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OESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (If known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The buildings in thie district embody the distinctive characterietics
of the Late Victorian of High Victorian style., They often show the
hand of one architect, Elmer H, Fisher. The entire group contains a
significent and very distinguishable homogeneity of etyle, form,
character, and construction,

For more then half of Seattle's history, the district has been the
heart of the City's commercial and business life, and it is rich in
association with the region's colorful past, Since those glamorous
daye, while having fallen into disrepute as an mrea of cheap hotels
and taverns, it has continued to be part of the unlque charecter and
color of this waterfront city.

Restoration of some of the buildings, notably by architects Raiph
Anderson and Dick White, has helped to revive interest in the distr1ct'4
potential by ehowing both the financial femeibility end the architec—
tural merit of such improvements. The architecture of the Bkid Road
is the most consistent in the city due to the consideratione of
change in business location, mentioned in statement of significance.
Now, there are many spatial voids due to demolition for parking lots,
but not to the extent where continuity need be lost in effective
future restoration. There hae been little unsympathetic remodeling.

Because of strict fire codes after the Seattle Fire of 1889, only

" masonry materials have been used with forme and details consistent
with the style and its era, Considerable variety ie found among

the buildings. The Pioneer Building exhibite flambopyent patterns
.and variedﬁetaile typical of Vlctorian Romanesques The Maud Building
showe vari-colored brickwork and pleasing restraint and proportion,
Some buildings, like the Maynmard and Mutual Life Buildings, show
moet ornamentation on the exterior., Others, like the L.C., Smith
Building, Smith Tower Annex, and a few restored buildings, show more
noteworthy characteristice in their interior detailing. Many
buildings are gquite anonymouys in character and design and yet the sﬁmplﬁ,
direct brickwor of stone masonry adds to the overall effect of the
district by providing contrast within a range of homogeneity. The
wooden windows, usually double-hung, helP to give a consistent scale
as well, Most of the buildings were built in 1889, 1890, and up to
1910, .

Most of the buildings have lost their cornices as & result of the
1948 earthquake, However, it proved their structural strength,
Most of the buildings are structurally sound an of restoration,
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (Include Personages, Dates, Events, Etc.)

On February 15, 1852, the homestead stakes for land that ultimately
became the city of Seattle were driven by the founding pioneers C.D. Boren,
Arthur A, Demny, end Williem N, Bell., The area claimed now constitutes
mogt of the present central business district and waterfront, ranging from
South Jackson Street to Denny Way. These men were part of the group
which had landed on November 13, 1851, at Alki Point, across Elliott Bay.
They chose the new location as a better place from which to ship logs and
lumber to booming gold-rush San Francisco,

Dr. David S. Maynard arrived shortly thereafter with lumber and
supplies from Olympia, to build the town'e first structure, a combined
store and home on the northwest corner of First South and $. Mein. He
was responsible for naming the town after his friend, Chief Sealth, or
Seattle.

~In the sprlnv of 1853, Henry L. Yesler was .encouraged to begin
operating his steam sewmill at the location of the northwest corner of
Firet Avenue and Yesler Way (Pioneer Squere), This was Seattle's first
and major industry. As lumber was selling for $60/thouaand board feet
in Callfornia, the new community -prospered,

Yesler's donation claim included a narrow.corridor encompassing
what is now Yesler Way =--— the street from which the term Skid Road was
derived. When the skid roed was used to skid logs down to the mill, it was

. & 49% grade, When improved, it was eased to a 15% grade, to accommodate
wegons and the Yesler-Leschi cable car which started from Pioneer Square.
Most of the early settlers, and meny of the Indians, worked in Yesler's mill

The area that is known as the Skid Road end Pioneer Square was the
heart of the community for more than the first half century of the town's
existence, During this period, Seattle became the major city in the
northwest quarter of the nation,

June 6, 1839, Seattle suffered a major disaster when all of the
docks and most of the business district were burned down., But immediate
reconstruction and weédespread publicity after the fire brought hordes
of new people and much additional business. Statehoed on November 11, 1889
made it possible for the town to spend money in public work, and the
citizens declared their intentions to rebuild the Skid Road area into
the moet beautiful city center in the world.

Because of the massive rebuilding within a short period after the
fire, and partly because of the influence of one architect, Elmer H.

' Pisher, there is great homogeneity of style and construction in the
Skid Road - Pioneer Square architecture. Although he is virtually
unknown today, Fisher appeares to have been responsible for the design

of at least sixty buildings in Seattle, many of which were located in
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thg Skid Road area.

Since all rebuilt structures ed to be of brick, stone,
and iron, the area has a unity of appearance, and a feeling of ‘substence.
The buildings were constructed in a period of.high prosperity and built
most solidly, Streets were widened, grades improved, and street trees
planted, The location was thé croesroad of all transportation in the
city, and so the fine iron pergola was built in Pioneer Square. That
Square (really a triengle) was made into a emall city park, and an
suthentic Indian totem pole was erected there. It has since been replaced
as the original one was lost..

The area to the south of Yesler Way was originally bozgy. During

- . reconstruction, buch regrading was accomplished and all of the swamps
. were filled. As streets were regraded, roadways were filled between fa—
bulkheads at the curbings on both sides of the street. and the sidewalks

were bridged over to the buildings, sometimes leaving lower store fronts
to be replaced by main entrances at the new upper gtreet grades, Some
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of thie underground, the older city, is visible today,and is seen on f
guided tours of the area. - : T ;
Seattle and this historic area prospered during the last decade of th;j

19th century, always due to lumber, but algo from other factors. James
Hill's initiation of the operation gf a combination of rail and shipping
. put Memphis cotton into Shanghsi 197 days faster than any other means :
of transportation; The gold rush of the Klondike and Nome brought not
only miners, but business, and shipping to Seattle as the nearest large
port. Seattle built ships for Alaska trade, and also became the center
of the Mosquito Fleet of emall steamers in Puget Sound.
Following World War I, business moved northward out of the Skid Road,
* and the area graduelly fell into lower uses. By the Depression of the
1930's the aree became an almost forgotten district. ’ :

' geattle's hour—glass configuration forces districts into rather
confined geographical areas. The business district of Seattle has
Purther been controlled by the recent building of the Interstate Highway
#5 freewesy. Therefore, businesses can go only north or- south of present
locations. The south, historic area, is becomming of increasing interest
a8 usable business area. Increasing numbers of property owners are.
following the examples of Ralph Andersonm, Dick White, and Marvin Burke
in cleaning and restoring the fine buildings of Pioneer Square and
Skid Road. Meny decorator shops, galleries, lively bars, and elegant
restaurants are opening and remaining in the area. .

' Several historic markers are already in the area: First private
‘schoel, founding of United Parcel Service, gnall fort of thé Indian war.
Many evente of local color and interest occurred in these blocks and
on these streets. All of the original settlers lived and worked here,

(It hes been brought to our attention that there is also a fine
sidewalk mosaic in-the 100 block on First South, advertising the
Lippy Building, now the Cascade Hotel.) Such mosaics were onee quite
common, *but possibly only two remain in Seattle.
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NAME AND TITLE:

Margaret A. Corley, King County Lisason

ORGANIZATION

Seattle Historical Socisety

STREET AND NUMBER:

2161 Eest Hanlin St.

CITY OR TOWN:

Seattle, 98102

July, 1969
STATE CODE
Washington 46

~“NATIONAL REGISTER VERIFICATION .«

As the designated State Liaison Officer for the Na-
tional Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law
89-665), 1 hereby nominate this property for inclusion
in the National Register and certify that it has been
evaluated according to the criteria and procedures set
forth by the National Park Service. The recommended
level of significance of this nomination is:

C] State G Local [y

National

Charles H. Odegaard
Title D_u_ecmt ’

Washington State Parks _and .

Recreation Commission
Date

1/28/70

1 herebyv certify that this property is included in the

National Register.

(&wzf“ww()w .

Chief, Office of Archeology and Historic P%‘ .

JUN 221970

Date
ATTEST:
/ y > s
[,
“ Keeper of The[National Regist
Date JUN 3 1970
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Starting at the intersection of Alaskan Way Viaduct and
Columbia Street proceed east on Columbia to the mid point
between lst and 2nd Avenues, go south to Cherry then east
to the mid point between 2nd and 3rd Avenues. Go south to
a point about 75 feet north of Washington Street then east
to 3rd Avenue South and south to a point about 75' south of
Washington Street. Go west to 2nd Avenue South then south
to the mid point between South Jackson Street and South
King Street. Turn west to the mid point between Occidental
Avenue South and 1lst Avenue South. Go south to South King
Street then west to lst Avenue South. Go south to a point
about 125 feet south of South King Street then west to the
Alaskan Way Viaductﬁto intersection with Columbia Street.
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Section Page
SUPPLEMENTARY LISTING RECORD

NRIS Reference Number: 70000086 Date AD Approved: 1/15/2008
Pioneer Square—Skid Road District
(Additional Documentation) King WA
Property Name County State
N/A

A

Multiple Name

This property is listed in the National Register of Historic Places in
accordance with the attached nomination documentation subject to the
following exceptions, exclusions, or amendments, notwithstanding the
National Park Service certification included in the nomination

documentation/;
Q/M‘—W //S‘Aoaz

Sigdatef?/bf the Keeper Date of Action

Amendeé/items in Nomination:

State Certification:
The SHPO staff has confirmed that the documentation was submitted as a: nomination at the
local level of significance. [The certification block was not fully completed on the original form.]

Resource Count:
The resource count is revised to acknowledge the change in resource status for the two heavily
altered buildings at 318 Second Avenue (#145) and 213 Main Street (#146) [see below].

Significance:
The correct Period of Significance under Criteria A & C is: 1889--1931.

[This consolidates the four context periods defined in the nomination into a single comprehensive
period.]

The buildings located at 318 Second Avenue (#145) and 213 Main Street (#146) do not retain sufficient
historic integrity to merit listing as contributing buildings and are therefore re-categorized as non-
contributing resources. Each of the buildings was originally three stories in height, reflecting typical
patterns of local architectural development in the downtown area. Subsequent to damage from the 1949
earthquake the buildings were reduced to one story. While elements of the original historic fabric
remain, overall the buildings no longer convey sufficient integrity of design, materials, workmanship, and
feeling to convey an accurate picture of the historic period. Retention of minor details does not
compensate for the loss of scale or design and the impact of the alterations on the sense of historic
streetscape patterns. (Should the period of significance for the historic district be extended up to and
including the 1949 era in which the earthquake damage occurred, these properties might be
reconsidered as contributing resources in a similar manner to those buildings effected and radically
altered by the Second Avenue Extension project.)

continued




Verbal Boundary Description:
The Verbal Boundary Description should read: See attached sketch map. The boundary of the district

conforms to that proposed in the original 1970 nomination and amended in boundary increases
approved in 1978 and 1988 (see 1988 Boundary Increase for detailed verbal description). A clarification
is necessary with regard to the southeast boundary where new buildings have been built since the last
boundary documentation project. The modern, non-historic buildings set to the rear of the historic train
stations are not considered part of the nominated historic district despite the fact that the boundary line
now appears to cut through the building footprints.

The Verbal Boundary Justification should read: The boundary includes the resources that define the
best collection of historic buildings reflecting the historic period of Seattle’s earliest commercial
development. Areas outside the district reflect modern construction not in keeping with the historic
period of significance, major arterials (Alaskan Way), and different patterns of commercial and industrial
development.

These clarifications were confirmed with the WA SHPO office.

DISTRIBUTION:
National Register property file
Nominating Authority (without nomination attachment)
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United States Department of the Interior RECEIVED 2280

National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places DEC 122007

Registration Form (A Reeren O FIGTORT: PAces

This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts. See instructions in How to Complete the National
Register of Historic Places Registration Form (National Register Bulletin 16A). Complete each item by marking "x" in the appropriate box or by
entering the information requested. If any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for "not applicable." For functions,
architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the instructions. Place additional entries
and narrative items on continuation sheets (NPS Form 10-900a). Use a typewriter, word processor, or computer, to complete all items.

1. Name of Property
Historic name PIONEER SQUARE-SKID ROAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT

Other names/site number

2. Location

Roughly bounded by the Viaduct, Railroad Ave. S., King St, 4™ and 5™

street & number Avenues, James and Columbia Sts and including the 500 block of 1* Ave South

not for publication

city or town __ Seattle ___ vicinity
State Washington code WA county King code 033  zipcode 98104

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1986, as amended, | hereby certify that this X
nomination __ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Hjstoric Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my
opinion, the property eets ___ does not meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered
significant __ nationally ___ statewide __ locally. ( _ See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

7207 - QP

Date

WASHINGTON STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICE
State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property ___ meets ___ does not meet the National Register criteria. ( __ See continuation sheet for
additional comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification -

I, hereby, that this property is: t Date of Action

entered in the National Register.
___ See continuation sheet
___ determined eligible for the
National Register.
___ See continuation sheet

___determined not eligible for the
National Register.

___removed from the
National Register.

___ other (explain:)




[ Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic District

| King County , WA

[ Page2of 4

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box
x private building(s)
“x_ public-local “x district
public-State site
public-Federal " structure
object

Name of related multiple property listing:
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

NA

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not incl. previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Non-Contributing
126 29 buildings
5 ’ 7 sites
1 3 structures
1 11 objects
133 50 Total

Number of contributing resources previously
listed in the National Register

5 buildings +2 sites +1 structure + 2objects = 10

6. Functions or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Domestic: hotel

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Domestic: multiple dwelling, hotel, institutional housing.

Commerce/Trade: business, financial institution, restaurant,
warehouse, specialty store

Commerce/Trade: business, financial institution restaurant,
warehouse, professional, specialty store

Social: meeting hall, clubhouse, civic

Government: City Hall, firehouse, public works, correctional

facility

Government: City Hall, firehouse, public works, post office;

Education: school

Recreation & Culture:theater, monument
Agriculture: processing ( brewery, meat packing)

Recreation & Culture: monument, museum, art

Industry/Processing/Extraction: manufacturing,
communications & energy facilities; industrial storage

Industry/Processing/Extraction: manufacturing,
communications/energy facilities.

Defense: military facility, battle site

Landscape: park, plaza, street furniture, parking

Landscape: park, plaza, street furniture
Transportation: rail & road related

Transportation: rail & road related
Work in Progress/ Vacant

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

Late Victorian: Victorian & Romanesque (Richardsonian);

Renaissance; Late 19" & 20™ Century Revivals: Beaux Arts,

Italian & French Renaissance; Mission/ Spanish Colonial Revival

Late 19" & 20" Century American Movements: Commercial
Style, Chicago

Modern Movement: Moderne

Narrative Description

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation Concrete

walls  Brick ; stone; cast stone; terra cotta; cast iron

roof _Asphalt/ built-up

other

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property.) ~ SEE CONTINUATION SHEET
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria

(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the
property
for National Register listing.)

x A Property is associated with events that have

made a significant contribution to the broad patterns
of our history.

B Property is associated with the lives of persons

significant in our past.

x C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high
artistic values, or represents a significant
and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

B removed from its original location.

C a birthplace or grave.

D acemetery.

E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.
F acommemorative property.

G less than 50 years oid or achieving significance
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

Architecture, Commerce

Community Planning and Development, Engineering,

Industry, Landscape Architecture,

Politics/ Government, Social History,

Transportation

Period of Significance
1. 1889-1899 2. 1900-1910

3.1911-1927 4.1928-1931

Significant Dates
1889; 1893; 1897; 1929; 1931

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

Cultural Affiliation

Architect/ Builder

Architects: Boone, W. E.; Fisher, Elmer; DeNeuf, E.;
Houghton, E.W; Saunders, C.; Parkinson, J.;

Skillings, W.; Wickersham, A; Bebb C.; Breitung, C.
A; Gould, A. W., Heins & LaFarge;
Umbrecht, Max; Patterson D. J.; Reed & Stem

Gaggin & Gaggin; Saunders and Lawton;

(Explain the significance of the property.) SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

_x__ preliminary determination of individual listing
(36 CFR 67) has been requested

_x__ previously listed in the National Register

x__ previously determined eligible by the National
Register

____ designated a National Historic Landmark
#

recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record#

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

Primary location of additional data:
x  State Historic Preservation Office

x  Other State agency

x Federal agency

x Local government

x  University
___ Other
Name of repository:

1.0AHP 2. WA State Archives 3. NPS

4. Seattle Dept. of Neighborhoods
5. Manuscripts/Special Collections, U of

Washington
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 91.3 acres

UTM References
(Place additional UTM References on a continuation sheet.)

1110 |5]49 | 846 | |52 ]723] 21 | 3]10] | 5|50 544 | |52]|718] 68 |
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

2 10| |5]50] 539 | |s52]722) 97 1 4l | 5 |s50] 134 |52]715] 22 |
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property.) See continuation sheet.

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected.) See continuation sheet.

11. Form Prepared By

nameltitle Karin Murr Link

organization Thomas Street History Services date July 14, 2005 (revised by SHPO —Nov 07)
street & number 705 East Thomas Street, #204 telephone  (206) 860-2949

city or town Seattle state WA zip code 98102

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets

Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.

Photographs
Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items.)

Property Owner (Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.)

name Various

street & number telephone

city or town state zZip code
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Continuation Sheet - rioneer SQUARE-SKID RoAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT
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Section number 7 Page 1 of 289

Present and Historical Physical Appearance

The Pioneer Square-Skid Road Historic District was originally listed in the National Register of Historic
Places in June 1970. There have been two subsequent boundary expansions. The 1978 boundary expansion increased
the district from 52 acres to 88 acres. The 1988 boundary increase included an area of approximately 3.3 acres,
located along First Avenue South and south of King Street. The goal of this nomination is to assemble a much more
complete record concerning both the physical appearance and cultural significance of the existing resources in the
district. This updated nomination, in particular, reconsiders the cultural significance of several buildings that were
overlooked in the previous nominations. It also extends the period of significance of the district in light of previously
ignored historical events that have affected the overall urban design and physical appearance of the district. This
update maintains the existing boundaries of the district.

All of the district’s buildings date from after the Great Fire of June 6, 1889, which reduced roughly 30 blocks
or more of the original City of Seattle to ashes. The area was quickly rebuilt. Today, the district remains a striking
ensemble of architecturally significant buildings, many of which date from right after the Great Fire of 1889 and into
the 1890s. Typically, the streets follow a grid pattern, although there is a well-known change in the direction of the
grid north of Yesler Way, as a result of a tiff or miscommunication between two early landowners, Maynard and
Boren (This is explained in greater detail in the Statement of Significance). Buildings typically cover most the width
and depth of their assigned lots, but with sidewalk consistently encircling city blocks.

Buildings within the district date from four successive periods. The first period spans from right after the Fire
of June 6, 1889 to 1899. During this period, Seattle’s commercial district, known as the “burnt district,” was rebuilt
and the area subsequently suffered the impacts of the Panic of 1893 and then the early impacts of the Klondike Gold
Rush. The second period, a time of explosive growth, is related to both the Klondike Gold Rush and the railroads and
spans from 1900 to 1910. In the original nominations, the third period spanned from 1911 to 1916 and a final pre-
World War 1 surge of construction. For this update, the third period has been extended to encompass buildings
associated with the war effort during World War I and/ or completed between 1911 and 1927. A fourth period, from
1928 to 1931, is associated with the Second Avenue Extension, a public works project of 1928-1929, which
continued to have far-reaching consequences on the architecture, the open spaces and streetscape in the district until
1931.

The many extant buildings all have common characteristics, but vary somewhat over the successive periods.
The first period from 1889 to 1899 shows a preponderance of buildings with exterior brick walls and heavy timber
interiors. Stylistically, some buildings show the influence of the Late Victorian style, particularly in the fagade
composition, which is marked by vertical bays, with additional horizontal and vertical elements. Other buildings are
more typically Richardsonian Romanesque, inspired by the work of H.H. Richardson, or reflect the influence of
contemporary Chicago architectural firms such as Burmham and Root. Not uncommon in this period is the
combination in one building exterior of Victorian fagade composition with more Richardsonian Romanesque, as
well as Chicago School elements. The architectural vocabulary includes repeated round and/ or flat arches, low
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slung arched entries, heavy masonry, sculpted Romanesque Revival column capitals and fagade compositions which
often suggest both a base, shaft and capital arrangement, in addition to standard Victorian fagade divisions.

During the period from 1900 to 1910, the fagade composition becomes more regular, with a clearly
delineated base, shaft and capital arrangement and a greater sophistication in design. The Alaska Building of 1904 is
a Beaux Arts influenced, steel frame skyscraper and, after its completion, remained the tallest building in the district
for the next 10 years. Several other Beaux Arts influenced buildings, including the Frye Hotel, made their appearance
in the district during this period. There are also buildings by the architecture firm of Bebb and Mendel: the Corona
Building and the Schwabacher Hardware Company Building are clearly influenced by the work of Louis Sullivan. In
this period, however, the most prevalent building exterior features a clear base, shaft and capital arrangement and
vertical recessed bays, set between multi-story brick piers. The treatment of the cladding of the base, of the belt-
course, of the piers themselves, which may or may not be ornamented, and of the cornice, varies considerably from
building to building.

The period from 1911 to 1927 sees comparatively less building, although the monumental achievement is the
Smith Tower, a skyscraper by the architectural firm of Gaggin and Gaggin, whose exterior includes recessed bays,
trabeated openings and cladding in ormamented white terra cotta. The first six floors of the King County Courthouse,
designed by local architect A. Warren Gould and completed in 1916, are Beaux Arts inspired. More utilitarian hotel
building exteriors by Albert Wickersham, a Seattle architect, who also practiced during the 1889-1899 period, have
repeated openings and simple decorative elements, often in dark red brick, perhaps a throw-back to an earlier period.
The 1920s, before the Second Avenue Extension, see very little building, although some variety in styles and
materials, rug brick combined with terra cotta trim or stucco exteriors.

Finally the period from 1928 to 1931 includes buildings modified or erected at the time of the Second
Avenue Extension Project. This public works project cut a swath from Yesler Way to past Jackson Street, near the
train terminals and sliced into buildings in its path. In some cases, buildings were partially demolished and lost one or
more of their facades. After remodeling, for instance, an early building might retain one fagade from the 1900s, but
have a second facade, dating anywhere from 1928 to 1931 and usually Moderne in style. Examples of such treatment
occur in the case of the Ace Hotel, which dates originally from 1904, 1t retained its 1904 eastern fagade, while its
western Moderne facade dates from the time of the Second Avenue Extension and was completed in 1930. There are
many more examples related to the Second Avenue Extension Project.

The district has only a few historic contributing open spaces; however, Pioneer Place, which includes a cast
iron pergola, a totem and a fountain with the bust of Chief Seattle, remains an important focal point, which has given
its original name, Pioneer Square, to the district. Occidental Park and Occidental Mall, built subsequently in 1972,
were created as an extension of the original Pioneer Place. The other historical open space is City Hall Park,
previously known as Dilling Park, which is located to the south of the King County Courthouse and near the eastern
edge of the district. Within City Hall Park, the “Daughters of the American Revolution Battle of Seattle Site” is also
listed separately on the National Register of Historic Places as an historic site.
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The following five buildings were also previously listed separately on the National Register or as part of a
nomination for a much smaller grouping of historic resources: the Triangle Building, the Pioneer Building, King
Street Station, Union Station (formerly the Oregon and Washington Station) and 400 Yesler Way. The two objects
described as part of a small nomination which included Pioneer Place, as well as the Pioneer Building, are the
Pioneer Place totem pole and the Chief Seattle fountain. The same nomination also includes the Pioneer Place
Pergola.

In general, the district has a sizeable number of historic, contributing resources and the large majority of
these are buildings. Of the 193 resources, (including 10 listed separately or as part of other National Register
nominations, but minus 12 vacant sites), 143 (74 %) are contributing and 50 (26 %) are non contributing, with 21
historic, non contributing resources and 29 non historic, non contributing resources. Of the 133 historic, contributing
resources not listed elsewhere, there are 126 buildings, 5 historic sites, 1 historic object and 1 historic structure. Of
the 50 non contributing resources, there are 29 non contributing buildings, 7 non contributing sites, 3 non
contributing structures and 11 non contributing objects. Below is a more general summary of the distribution of
resources.

CLASSIFICATION No. of Resources
Resources previously on the National Register 10
Historic, Contributing 133
Historic, Non contributing 21
Non Historic, Non contributing 29

Total Resources 193
Vacancies 12
Total No. with vacancies 205

In general, resources were considered historic, if they dated from within the periods of significance, assigned
to the district in this nomination, that is, if they dated from 1889 to 1931. In general, they were considered
contributing, if they retained their physical exterior integrity, based on original design, detailing and materials. In
addition, a few resources were considered contributing, if they retained a sufficient amount of historic integrity and,
in addition, were of particular historic significance to the district. In most cases, the current appearance was
compared with historic photos.
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Historic District Resources (numerical by identification)

Alaskan Commercial Hotel

ID# | Address Historic Name Rank Architect Date
1 61 Columbia St Polson Building Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1910
Lawton
2 611 Western Avenue Historic, Contributing | Saunders & 1910
Lawton?
3 305 1% Avenue Parking Lot Vacant - NA -
4 1 Yesler Way Bedford Hotel Historic, Contributing - 1911
5 83 Columbia St Journal Building Historic, Contributing - 1898/
1914
6 633 Post Ave. (Alley) | New Post Station, Seattle Historic, Contributing | Engineer: 1902
Steam Company Stone &
Webster
7 619 Post Ave. (Alley) | Old Post Station, Seattle Steam | Historic, Contributing - 1890/
Company 1903
8 611 Post Ave. (Alley) | Elgin Hotel/ Historic, Contributing | A.Wickersham | 1913
Travellers’ Hotel
9 77 Yesler Way Yesler Hotel Historic, Contributing | A.Wickersham | 1914
10 110 Alaskan Way S. Heffernan Engine Works Historic, Contributing - 1918
11 114 Alaskan Way S. Prudential Building/ Historic, Contributing - 1902
Fred Cole Building
12 69 S. Washington St Lowman and Hanford Printing | Historic, Contributing - 1890
and Binding Company
13 81 S. Washington St. Charles Hotel Historic, Contributing - 1889
14 77 S. Washington Pacific Coast Company Historic, Contributing - 1904/
1908
15 210 Alaskan Way Lutheran Compass Center Non Historic, Non Stickney 2004
Addition contributing Murphy
Romine
16 212 Alaskan Way 0. K. Hotel Historic, Contributing Ishram 1917
Johnson
17 76 S. Main St/ 218 Boston Hotel/ Historic, Contributing - 1907
Alaskan Way South Puget Sound Hotel
18 80 S. Main St Victor Appel Building —Argens | Non Historic, Non - 1951
Lock contributing
19 75 S. Main St Alaska Hotel/ Historic, Contributing - 1892
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20 304 Alaskan Way S. | Oregon and Washington Historic, Contributing - 1890
Railroad and Navigation
Company
21 316 Alaskan Way S. | Terminal Garage Historic, Non contributing - 1909
22 83 S. Jackson St Schwabacher Warehouse | Historic, Contributing Bebb & 1909
Annex Gould
23 83 S. Jackson St Merrill Place Fountain Non Historic, Non NBBJ/Olson | 1984
(Site) contributing Walker
24 83 S. Jackson St Merrill Place Parking Non Historic, Non “ 1984
Garage contributing
25 701 1** Avenue People’s Bank and Parking | Non Historic, Non - 1970
Garage contributing
26 627 1* Avenue Silver Hotel/ Pioneer Drug | Historic, Non contributing - 1908;
Company late 20"
century
27 625 1* Avenue S. K & R Building/ Pioneer | Historic, Contributing - Ca.18897
Office Equipment 1905
28 Diamond Parking Lot NA - Vacant - NA
29 606 Post Ave. (Alley) | Fischer and MacDonald Historic, Contributing E. Fisher/ 1892
Wholesale Store E. DeNeuf
30 605 1% Ave. Mutual Life Building/ Historic, Contributing E. Fisher/ 1890,
Yesler Building E. DeNeuf/ Alt.
Robertson & | 1893;
Blackwell Addition
Ca.1904
31 95 Yesler Way Yesler Building/ Historic, Contributing E. Fisher/ 1891;
Bank of Commerce E. DeNeuf Ca.1895
Building
32 105 1% Ave. S. Schwabacher Building Historic, Contributing E. Fisher/ 1890;
E. DeNeuf ca. 1892
33 109 1% Ave. S. Terry Denny Building/ Historic, Contributing Saunders & | 1891
Northern Hotel Houghton
34 119 1* Ave S. Maynard Building/ Historic, Contributing A 1892
Dexter Horton Building Wickersham
35 89 S. Washington St | J & M Annex/ Walter Historic, Contributing - 1892
Collins Building
201 1% Ave. S. J & M Hotel/ ] & M Card | Historic, Contributing Comstock & | 1889;
36 Roony Seattle Bar Saloon Troetsche Ca.1900
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ID# | Address

Historic Name

Rank

Architect Date

37 207 1% Ave. S.

Skagit Hotel/ Central Card
Room

Historic, Contributing

Comstock & 1889
Troetsche

38 209 1 Ave. S. Hotaling Block/ Marathon Historic, Contributing Builder: 1889,
Hotel Capt John 18997
Nixon
39 211 1 Ave. S. Parker Bldg/ Lucky Hotel/ Historic, Contributing - 1889
Killion Building
40 213 1% Ave. S. Branagan-Smith Building Historic, Contributing Builder: 1889
/Rocker Hotel Matthew
Branagan?
41 219 1" Ave. S. New England Hotel Historic, Contributing E. Fisher 1889
42 301 1% Ave. S. Matilda Winehill Block Historic, Contributing Bucheler & 1890
Hummel
43 305 1% Ave. S. Surface Parking NA - Vacant - NA
44 311 1* Ave. S. Maud Building Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1890
Houghton
45 313 1% Ave. S. Crown Hotel Historic, Contributing Charles Bebb? | 1900
46 317 1% Ave. S. Squires Building Historic, Contributing Charles Bebb | 1900
47 80 S. Jackson St Smith Building Historic, Contributing Max 1900
Umbrecht
48 401 1* Ave. S. Schwabacher Hardware Historic, Contributing Bebb & 1905
Company Building Mendel
49 411 1" Ave. S. Seller Building Historic, Contributing A.W.Gould | 1906
50 419 1* Ave. S. Hambach Building Historic, Contributing - 1913

51 83 S. King St

Seattle Hardware Company
Building

Historic Contributing

A.Wickersham | 1904

52 501 1% Ave. S. Seattle Hardware Company | Historic, Contributing same 1923
Warehouse Annex

53 535 1% Ave. S. Parking garage & surface Non Historic, Non - 1969
parking contributing

54 547 1% Ave. S. West Transfer Company Historic, Non - 1919
Building/ Duncan & Sons contributing
Bldg

55 551 1% Ave. S.

Triangle Bar/ Flatiron
Building

Historic, Contributing,
NR

C. A. Breitung | 1910

NR= on the National Register (separate or other listing)
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ID# | Address Historic Name Rank Architect | Date
56 706 1% Ave. S. Parking Garage Non Historic, Non - 1958
contributing
57 110 Cherry St/ Scheuerman Block Historic, Contributing E. Fisher 1890 &
700 1* Ave. 1903
58 107 Cherry St Lowman Building Historic, Contributing Heide & 1906
DeNeuf
59 616 1* Ave. S. Lowman and Hanford Historic, Contributing Emil 1892
A Building DeNeuf 1902
60 612 1% Ave. S. Howard Building Historic, Contributing DeNeuf 1890
(attrib.)
61 606 1 Ave. S. Pioneer Building Historic, Contributing, NR E. Fisher 1892
62 Pioneer Place Pioneer Square, Historic, Contributing, NR - 1889-
“Occidental Square” 1910
63 Pioneer Place Pergola (structure)/ Historic, Contributing, NR Julian 1909-
Comfort station Everett 1910
64 Pioneer Place Chief Seattle Bust & Historic, Contributing, NR J. Wehn 1909
fountain (sculptor)
65 Pioneer Place Totem Pole ( Replica of | Historic, Contributing, NR C. Brown 1938
pre-1899 Tlingit pole) & father
66 Pioneer Place “Day and Night” Non Historic, Non E. Heap of 200 C.
(object) contributing Birds
67 102 1*' Ave S. Olympic Building Non Historic, Non - 1984-5
contributing
68 104 1 Ave. S. Lippy Building Historic, Contributing E. Houghton | 1902
69 112 19 Ave. S City Club Building/ Historic, Contributing Heins & 1897 &
Olympus Cafe Lafarge 1906
70 108 1" Ave. S. Terry Kittinger Building | Historic, Contributing Steinmann 1891
71 202 1% Ave. S. Buttnick Building Historic, Contributing - 1909
72 206 1% Ave. S. Gottstein Building Historic, Contributing - 1903
73 216 1* Ave. S. Squire Latimer Block Historic, Contributing Comstock | 1891
& Troetsche
74 310 1" Ave. S./ Marshall-Walker Block | Historic, Contributing W.E. Boone | 1891
107 1% Ave. S.
75 SE Corner of 1% Ave. S. Earl Layman /Young Historic, Non-Contributing - 1907

and Main St

Credit Jewellers’ Clock

(Moved to present site in 1984)
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76 314 1 Ave. S. Nord Hotel Historic, Contributing - 1890
77 316 1* Ave. S. Seattle Quilt Building/ | Historic, Contributing Boone & 1890
Walker Building Corner
78 322 1" Ave. S. Capitol Brewing and Historic, Contributing A. Breitung 1900
Malting Company
79 101 S. Jackson St Western Dry Goods/ Historic, Contributing - 1904
Wax and Raine Building
80 100 King St Westland Building/ Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1904
Hambaca Building/ Lawton
Tempco Quilters
81 101 King St/ Mueller Wholesale Historic, Non-Contributing | F. A. Sexton 1910
500 1% Ave S. Block/ Norfin Building
82 508-34 1% Ave. S. Seattle Security Historic, Non-Contributing | Lohman & 1909
Company Building/ Place
Norfin Warehouse
83 538 1™ Ave. S. Kaufman Warehouse Historic, Contributing W.P. White 1910
84 542 1™ Ave. S. George Hoffman’s Historic, Contributing Builder: 1903
Carriage Factory/ Megath &
Washington Shoe Duhamel
Company Building
85 548 1*' Ave. S. Carstens Bros. Cold Historic, Contributing Builder: David | 1904
Storage Dow
86 558 1% Ave. S. E. N. Fobes Building Historic, Contributing A. W. Gould 1908/
1910
87 562 1% Ave. S. Bornstein & Sons Historic, Contributing Josenhans & 1909
Warehouse Allan?
88 568 1% Ave. S. Provident Building Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1910
Lawton
89 590 1* Ave. S. Seattle Plumbing Historic, Contributing - 1903
Company Building
90 109 Yesler Way Sanderson Block/ Historic, Contributing W.E.Boone | 1890
Merchant’s Cafe
91 111 Yesler Way Padden Block/ Historic, Contributing E. Fisher 1890
Bohemian Café/ Eagle

Cafe
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92 119 Yesler Way Korn Block Historic, Contributing E. Fisher 1889
93 107 Occidental Way S. | Walker Block/ Frye Historic, Contributing Boone & 1891
Market Willcox
94 117 Occidental Way S. | Star Theater? Historic, Non contributing - 1915/
late 20"
century
95 116 & 118 S. Scandinavian Hotel and | Historic, Contributing - 1890
Washington St Clancy Building
96 124 S. Washington St | Hotel Interurban Historic, Non contributing - 1895/
late
20th
century
97 Occidental Park Occidental Park/ Non Historic, Non Ilze Jones, 1972
(Occidental Way between | Occidental City Park contributing Jones and
S. Washington & S. Main | (Site) Jones
Streets)
08 same Tsnonoqua (totem) Non Historic, Non Duane Pasco 1973
contributing
99 same Bear (totem) Non Historic, Non same 1973
contributing
100 same Sun & Raven (totem) Non Historic, Non same 1971
contributing
101 same Man Riding on the Tail | Non Historic, Non same 1974
of a Killer Whale (totem) | contributing
102 same Pergola Non Historic, Non Iize Jones, 1972
(structure) contributing Jones & Jones
103 Occidental Park Sculpture: Seattle Fallen | Non Historic, Non Hay Ca.
Firefighters Memorial contributing Ying 1990
Yu
104 Main St/ Occidental Way | Trolley Structure Non Historic, Non contrib. - same
105 Occidental Way between | Occidental Mall Non Historic, Non lize Jones 1972
S. Main & S. Jackson St contributing
106 117 S. Main St Superior Candy and Historic, Contributing - 1902
Cracker Company?
107 119 S. Main St Union Trust Building Historic, Contributing Skillings & 1893

Corner
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108 311 Occidental Ave S Waltham Block Historic, Contributing - Ca.
1890
109 122 S. Jackson St Crescent Manufacturing | Historic, Contributing - 1890;
Co./ Ingels Block 1910s
110 123 S. Jackson St Seattle Transfer Co./ Historic, Contributing - 1902
Scientific Supplies
111 115 S. Jackson St Fisher Building/ Historic, Contributing - 1890;
Rautman Plumbing & 1930
Heating Co./ Simonds
and Brawley Buildings
112 419 Occidental Ave. S. | Manufacturers Building/ | Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1906
Manufacturers Exchange Lawton
Building/ Stewart and
Holmes
113 102 Occidental Ave S. | Seattle National Historic, Contributing J. Parkinson/ 1892
Bank/Pacific Block Parkinson & Evers
114 NE corner Occidental Surface Parking NA - Vacant - NA
Ave S and S. Washington
Street
115 Between S Washington St | Surface Parking NA - Vacant - NA
& S. Main Sts &
Occidental Way (Ave)
116 300 Occidental Ave. S. | State Building Historic, Contributing E. Fisher 1891
117 314 Occidental Ave. S. | Sportscaster and Historic, Contributing - 1900
Company Building
118 400 Occidental Ave S. | Washington Shoe Mfng | Historic, Contributing Boone & Willcox; | 1892;
Co. Bldg/ Washington Blackwell & 1912;
Iron Works/ J. M. Frink Baker 1930s
Building
119 416 Occidental Ave. S. | Graybar Electric Co./ Historic, Contributing - 1930
Pacific Northwest Bell
Telephone
120 619 2™ Avenue Bailey Building/ Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1889-
Harrisburg Building Houghton 1892
121 601 2™ Avenue Butler Block/ Butler Historic, Non Contributing | Parkinson & Evers | 1890
Hotel
122 515 2™ Avenue Sinking Ship Parking Non Historic, Non Mandeville & Ca.
Garage contributing Berge 1961
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123 433 2™ Ave. Extension S. | H. K. Owens Historic, Contributing E. Fisher/ 1893
Building/Metropole Bldg E. DeNeuf
124 417 2™ Ave. Extension S. Historic, Contributing - Ca.
1891
125 411 2™ Ave. Extension S. | Circle Theater Historic, Non contributing - 1910
126 164 S. Washington St | Nugent Block and Historic, Contributing - 1890
Considine Block
127 East of 164 S. Sculpture (Steel, Non Historic, Non Artist: Jan Late
Washington St painted orange) Contributing Evans 20" C.
128 West of 173 S. Vacant lot (demolished | NA - Vacant - NA
Washington St buildings) .
129 173 S. Washington St | McGowan Block (w. Historic, Contributing - Ca.
portion) 1895
130 211 2™ Ave. S. LeRoy Hotel Historic, Non-Contributing - 1890;
Ca. late
1990s
131 215 2™ Ave. S. Lucknow Building/ Historic, Contributing - 1900
Ruggles Building
132 NW corner-2" Ave. S. | Annie E Casie Waterfall | Non Historic, Non Masao 1977
and Main Street Garden/ Casey Waterfall | contributing Kinoshita
Park (site)
133 305 2™ Ave. S. Fire Station No. 10 Historic, Contributing - 1929
(now No.2)
134 3152 Ave. S. Duncan & Sons Building | Historic, Contributing - 1900
135 319 2™ Ave S. Wittler Block/ Shanks | Historic, Contributing Hetherington | 1889
and Mills Block/ Elliott & Clements &
House/ Star Lodge Company
136 171 S. Jackson St Northcoast Historic, Contributing Boone & 1901
Building/Fuller Building/ Comer
Chapin Building
137 401 2™ Ave. S. Goldsmith Building/ Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1907
Crane Building Lawton
138 201 S. Washington St | Apex Building Historic, Non-Contributing - Ca.
1890;

1900
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139 312 2™ Ave. Extension | Hambach Warehouse/ Historic, Contributing Josenhans & 1905;
Northwest Hotel Supply Allan; Lawton & | 1928
Moldenhour
140 220 2™ Avenue South | Furuya Building Historic, Contributing - 1900;
Ca.
1903-
1904
141 222 S. Main St Corgiat Building/ Historic, Contributing R. L Robertson; | 1900
Main Hotel D. Delaney
(builder)
142 301 2™ Ave Extension S. | Fiesta Building/ Fiesta Non Historic, Non - 1934
Coffee Shop contributing
143 (No address available) | Surface parking NA - Vacant - NA
(#5247800845)
144 312 2" Ave. S. Moses Building/ Sartori | Historic, Contributing - 1901
Building
145 318 2™ Ave. S. Fulton Hotel/ Fulton Inn/ | Historic, Contributing - 1890;
Totem Distributing Co.
146 213 S. Main St Cannery Workers ILWU | Historic, Contributing E. W. Houghton; | 1900;
Local 37/ Cascade Spurr & Silber, Ca.
Laundry (builder) 1928
147 307 3 Ave. S. Mottman Building/ Historic, Contributing - 1906
Norris Safe Building/
Mohawk Building
148 319 39 Ave. S. U. S. Rubber Building/ Historic, Contributing Boone & Corner | 1902
Pacific Drug Company/
Stadium Furniture/
Seattle Paint Company
149 201 S. Jackson St King County Center Non Historic, Non NBBIJ 1999
contributing
150 201 S. Jackson St King County Center Non Historic, Non NBBJ & Hewitt; | 1999
(southeast plaza) southeast plaza contributing Jack Mackie,
artist
151 618 2™ Ave. Alaska Building Historic, Contributing Eames & Young | 1904
152 606 2™ Ave. Corona Building/ Historic, Contributing Bebb & Mendel 1903
Oriental Building
153 600 2™ Ave. Hartford Building Historic, Contributing John Graham, Sr. | 1929
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Contributing buildings within the district, often three stories in height or taller, retain a significant portion of
their historical exterior design, materials and architectural detailing. Changes to the ground floor storefronts are not
uncommon, but are more than offset by the intact nature of the upper floors, or by significant detail even at the
storefront level. In several cases, cornices on buildings have been lost or replaced as a result of a major earthquake in
1949, but this loss is balanced by the integrity of the rest of the building exterior. The few contributing sites retain
their original shape, in addition to contributing elements such as historic pergolas and totems and/or significant
paving or landscaping. The number of contributing structures and objects, as opposed to buildings, are few, but most
are associated with contributing sites. Following is a table of the resources within the Pioneer Square-Skid Road
National Historic District. This will be followed by descriptions and cultural data for each of the resources.
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154 520 2™ Ave. Collins Building Historic, A. B. Chamberlin 1894
Contributing
155 512 2™ Ave. Florence Theater Historic, Non - 1900;
' contributing 1924;
ca.
2000
156 502 2™ Ave. Smith Tower Historic, Gaggin & Gaggin 1911-
Contributing 1914
157 Fortson Square Fortson Square Historic, Non 1901;
contributing Willwerth/ Conner ca.
- 2000 1929;
2000
158 Fortson Square (Sculpture by Elizabeth | Non Historic, Non E. Conner (artist) Ca.
Conner) contributing 2000
159 Fortson Square (Five lamps- replicas of | Non Historic, Non - Ca.
historic gaslight fixtures) | Contributing 2000
160 201 Yesler Way Campbell Fuller Historic, Non - 1891
Bul]dmg/ Tyee Saloon contributing
161 408 2" Ave. Extension S Leighton Center/ Leroy Historic, Non - 1909;
Helms Center/ Harbor contributing 1967;
Light Ca.
1999
162 406- 410 2™ Ave. Monterey Hotel/ Historic, - 1909;
Lexington Hotel (north Contributing Ca.
wing) 1929
163 400 2™ Ave. Kon Yick Building/ Chin | Historic, W. E. Boone? Ca.
Gee Hee Building Contributing (1890 form) 1890;
1900
164 211 S. Washington St Duppenthaler Building Non Historic, Non - 1936
contributing
165 318 2™ Ave. Extension S. | Ace Hotel Historic, - 1904;
Contributing ca.
1930
166 Surface parking NA - Vacant - NA
167 519 3" Avenue Drexel Hotel Historic, - Ca.
Contributing 1890
168 501 3" Avenue Morrison Hotel Historic, Schack & Huntington | 1909

Contributing
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ID # Address Historic Name Rank Architect Date
169 3" Avenue & Yesler Way | Pioneer Square Metro Non Historic, Non TRA 1990
Station (bUS tunnel) Contributing
170 Prefontaine Place Prefontaine Place Historic, Contributing Carl F. Gould | 1926
(Between Jefferson & (site)
Yesler & 3" Ave.)
171 223 Yesler Way Frye Hotel Historic, contributing Bebb & 1908
Mendel
172 115 3™ Ave. S. Frye Garage Historic, Contributing J. H. Randall 1926
173 West of 123 3™ Ave Surface Parking NA - Vacant -
174 123 3 Ave. Walthew Building Non Historic, Non contrib.. - 1971
175 219 S. Washington St Graham Block (part of ) | Historic, Contributing - Ca.
1892
176 221 S. Washington St Graham Block (part of) | Historic, Contributing - 1890
177 Union Station Square | Union Station Square Historic, Non Contributing | K. Nakano 1929;
(Site) (late 20" c.) 20" C.
178 Union Station Square | Sculptural elements Non Historic, Non Bill Will 20" C.
Contributing (artist)
179 301 S. Jackson St King Street Station Historic, Contributing, NR | Reed & Stem | 1906
180 500 3" Ave. King County Courthouse | Historic, Contributing A. W..Gould/ | 1916,
Bittman/ 1931
McCauley
181 City Hall Park City Hall Park/ Dilling Historic, Contributing - 1911,
(SE of King County Park (Site) 1917,
Courthouse) 20" C.
182 City Hall Park Battle of Seattle Site Historic, Contributing, NR - 1916
(Boulder with plaques)
183 City Hall Park Tunnel walls Historic, Contributing Huntington/ 1917
‘ Josenhans
184 101 Prefontaine Place | Tashiro Building Historic, Contributing - 1908
185 115 Prefontaine Place | Kaplan Building Historic, Non contributing | C.R. Aldrich | Ca.
1906-8
186 200 3™ Ave S. Davenport Hotel/ Hotel | Historic, Contributing Elliot & West | 1905
Union
187 206 3 Ave. S. Norton Building/ Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1905
Northcoast Electric Bldg Lawton
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ID # Address Historic Name Rank Architect Date
188 210 3™ Avenue S. Richmond Paper Historic, Contributing Saunders & 1904
Company/ Westcoast Lawton
Wholesale Drug
189 220 3 Avenue S. C.T. Takahashi and Historic, Non contributing - 190S;
Company Late
20" C.
190 222 2" Ave.Extension S. Metropolitan Building Historic, contributing - Ca.
1905;
Ca.
1929
191 210 2™ Ave. Extension S. | Seattle Lighting Fixture | Non Historic, Non - 1946
Company Annex Contributing
192 South of 210 2" Ave. | Surface Parking NA - Vacant - NA
Ext. S.
193 4™ Ave S. and Yesler Yesler Overpass Historic, Contributing - Ca.
Way 1608
194 110 Prefontaine Place S. | Prefontaine Building Historic, Contributing H. Pederson 1909
(builder)
195 Between S. Washington {Opening above train Historic, Contributing Ca.
and S. Main Sts, w of 4™ | tracks, associated with 1929
Avenue South 2™ Ave. Extension
Project] - site
196 Between S. Main and S. same Historic, Contributing - Ca.
Jackson Sts, w of 4" 1929
Avenue South
197 On & south of Jackson {Triangular opening Historic, Contributing - Ca.
Street and s. Main St, above train tracks, 1929
west of 4" Avenue South | associated with 2™ Ave.
Extension Project} - site
198 401 S. Jackson St Oregon and Washington | Historic, Contributing, NR D.J. 1911
Station/ Union Pacific Patterson
Station/ Union Station
199 420 4™ Avenue 420 4™ Avenue Historic, Contributing - 1924
200 411 Jefferson St Milburn Hotel Historic, Non contributing - 1902;
1965
201 north of 410 4" Ave Surface Parking NA - Vacant -
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ID # Address Historic Name Rank Architect | Date

202 410 4™ Avenue Crouley Building/ Historic, Contributing - 1909-
Reynolds Hotel 1910

203 400 4™ Avenue MacRae Parking Garage | Historic, Contributing - 1927

204 400 Yesler Way City Hall/ Public Safety | Historic, Contributing, NR Clayton D. 1909
Building Wilson

205 Yesler and 4™ Avenue Surface Parking NA - Vacant - NA
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Descriptions and Cultural Data

Address: 61 Columbia St

Historic Name: Polson Building Built: 1910

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands Block 01-376/Block 194 /Lots 1-2 Parcel #: 7666202565
Style: Commercial/ Chicago School

Architect: Saunders and Lawton Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 1

Description

This six story building, rectangular in plan, has a concrete foundation, a full basement and reinforced concrete
walls. It has a primarily flat roof and parapet and primary facades on Western Avenue and Columbia Street. The
Western Avenue fagade is divided into six bays with trabeated openings at the ground level. Within these
openings, the storefronts are set in wooden frames and have transom lights. Above a belt-course in concrete, there
are four standard central vertical bays, set between piers. Each of these bays has a horizontal row of four double-
hung windows in a wood frame (per floor). To each side of the four central bays, are end bays with a horizontal
row of three windows per floor. The Columbia Street elevation has a similar design and detailing, except that
there are six central bays with horizontal rows of three double-hung windows. Here, side bays consist of
horizontal rows of two windows. There is now an entrance at the fourth bay from the east (or from the corner of
Western Avenue and Columbia Street), which is a later addition.

Cultural Data

Named after its original owner, the Polson Realty Company, the Polson Building was built in 1910 and designed
by the architectural firm of Saunders and Lawton. The building is significant, because it dates from a period of
economic and industrial growth in Seattle, which included the expansion of the original heart of the city along the
former tideflats. The building’s construction is in reinforced concrete, indicating a shift in construction knowledge
and techniques, since many warehouse buildings from only a few years before had brick exterior walls and heavy
timber interiors.

While this is a simple, utilitarian building, it has much in common with other more ornate warehouse buildings,
erected in the same period in the district. It was also designed by a notable Seattle architecture firm. The
architectural firm of Saunders and Lawton was formed in 1898, when Charles Saunders joined with his former
draftsman, George Lawton. Within this historic district alone, the firm was very prolific. It was responsible for
several other warehouse buildings in the district, including the Westland Building of 1907, the Norton Building of
1904, the Mottman Building of 1906 and the F. X. McRory Building (formerly the McKesson and Roberts
Building) of 1906.
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Charles Saunders’ career in Seattle goes back to 1889. He came to Seattle in 1889 right after the Great Fire,
probably because of an association with William Elder Bailey. Bailey was involved in ventures in real estate,
railroads and newspapers in Seattle, right after the Fire of 1889 until the early 1890s, when his finances went sour.
By September of 1889, Charles Saunders had formed a partnership with the British born Edwin Houghton, whom he
had probably met in California. The Saunders and Houghton Partnership also produced several notable buildings in
the new heart of Seattle right after the Fire of 1889, including the Bailey Building, the Terry Denny Building and
the now demolished Olympic Block. After the dissolution of the Saunders and Houghton partnership in 1890,
Saunders practiced independently until the formation of the Saunders and Lawton partnership in 1898, which lasted
until 1915. Saunders and Lawton were also responsible for the Forestry Building, made of raw logs, at the Alaska-
Yukon Exposition in Seattle in 1908-09 and were supervising architects on the construction of Eames and Young’s
Alaska Building, also in the Pioneer Square Historic District.

The Polson Building was partially burnt in 1958 and is described as having been “rebuilt” in 1958. In the late 1990s,
it also suffered a severe fire, which destroyed the art work of many artists who had studios in the building at the
time. It was again rehabilitated, but based on historical photographs and despite two major fires, the basic design
and exterior have not changed significantly since 1910.

Sources
Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.

Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Address: 611 Western Avenue

Historic Name: Unknown Built: 1910

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands Block 01-376/Block 194 /Lots 3-4 Parcel #: 7666202570
Style: Commercial/ Chicago School

Architect: Saunders and Lawton? Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 2

Description

611 Western Avenue has three elevations, which are now visible from the street: two, on Western Avenue and
Alaskan Way, were meant to be facades. A third, south elevation, alongYesler Way, was originally designed to face
an alley, and now looks down on a surface parking lot. The building footprint is 100" x 134°, with the longer
dimension facing north and south. The building is six stories, with, like its neighbor, the Polson Building, reinforced
concrete walls. It has a partial basement and concrete foundation walls. The Western Avenue and Alaskan Way
elevations have belt-courses, just above the first story and just below the sixth story. Otherwise the building exterior
is unadorned.
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The Western Avenue fagade, which faces east, is divided into five bays, separated by piers. At the ground level, it
has wood framed storefronts with multi-light transom windows in the third and fourth bays (counting from the
South). The three central bays of levels two to five have a horizontal row of four pivoting windows, (three over
three), in wooden frames, topped by horizontally pivoting transom windows (three lights). The single bays to each
side of the three central bays each consist of a row of three windows, also with pivoting transom windows overhead.
The top sixth level has the same standard multi-light window, but no transoms. The whole is surmounted by a flat
cornice in concrete, surmounted by additional parapet wall in concrete, which looks as though it may have been
added later.

The west elevation on Alaskan Way more or less mirrors the Western Avenue elevation, except that the ground
level has a loading dock platform and a hodge-podge of doorways, fenestration and garage doors. The former
alleyway elevation on Yesler is wider and has no belt-courses. At the second level, it has 14 of the standard
window, but no transom windows. The next three floors have 8 of the standard windows with transom windows.
There is a wide expanse of wall to each side of the windows (in the horizontal direction). The top level of windows
consists of the standard three over three windows, with no transoms.

Cultural Data

The building was designed in 1910. It is a utilitarian building, similar in design to its neighbor, the Polson
Building. Not surprisingly, it was also designed as a warehouse building. While simple and utilitarian, it has much
in common with other more ornate warehouse buildings erected in the same period in the district. It stands out
somewhat because of its original multi-light windows above the storefront level. These impart a pleasing rhythm,
especially on the Western Avenue fagade. The building is significant because it dates from the period of economic
and industrial growth of the original heart of Seattle along the former tideflats. Like its neighbor, the Polson
Building, its construction is in reinforced concrete, indicating a shift in construction knowledge and techniques,
since many warechouse buildings from just a few years before still had brick exterior walls and heavy timber
interiors. There does not seem to be an architect of record, but given the similarity with the Polson Building and
the fact that it was also designed in 1910, it is very possible that it too was designed by Saunders and Lawton, a
notable Seattle architecture firm. (For further information on Saunders and Lawton, please see the context
statement, Section 8, and the cultural Data Section for the Polson Building, Field no. 1)

Sources
Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen, Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson,
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.
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Address: 305 First Avenue S. (Surface Parking Lot)

Historic Names: NA Built: NA

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands BL 01-376/ Block 194 / Lot 4-5 Parcel: # 7666202575
Style: NA

Architect: NA Builder: NA

Classification: Vacant Site ID #: 3

Address: 1 Yesler Way

Historic Name: Bedford Hotel Built: 1911

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands Block 01-376/Block 197 /Lots 1-2 Parcel #: 7666202594
Style: Commercial

Architect: Unknown

Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 4

Description

This is small, three story brick-clad building, triangular in plan. It has a flat roof and a parapet which rises at the
corners of the building and at the narrow south elevation. The main elevation faces north and has five
asymmetrically placed arched openings toward the west at the ground level, which date from a 1967 remodel. One
of these serves as an entry to a business, currently a restaurant. Above the storefront on the north and on the east
and west elevations, rectangular window openings are placed in a more or less consistent fashion from elevation to
elevation. They are equally spaced on the east and west elevations and less regularly on the north elevation, with
the first two rows of windows to the east spaced more closely.

Cultural Data

The original building, which first housed the Bedford Hotel from 1911 to 1940, was erected in 1911. After World
War I, this building continued to serve as a seamen’s and travelers’ hotel. Restored as an office building in 1967, it
was known in the 1969-70 National Register nomination as the Pacific Banking Building. Its earlier address was
“67-71 Yesler Way,” but it seems that the address “ 1 Yesler Way” is now official, according to current King
County Records. The draft of Victor Steinbrueck’s Seattle Register Nomination Form for the Pioneer Square
Historic District, as well as the Pioneer Square Preservation District Inventory, done by the Seattle Department of
Community Development in 1982 — apparently based on Steinbrueck’s assessment - claim that the building was
“restored and rebuilt in 1967.” While the north facing street level has obviously been redesigned and probably in
the 1960s, the fenestration of the upper level appears exactly as it does in a King County Property Record card

of 1936. Also, the photograph shows that the parapet did rise at the corners and south elevation of the building, as
it does now, although there were overhangs that ran the length of the lower parts of the parapet. All this suggests
that, despite changes in 1967, particularly at the lower level of the north elevation, the building has retained much
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of its fabric and integrity from 1911, or has been reconstructed so as to retain its essential architectural
characteristics.

Sources

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square.” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996, City of
Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Steinbrueck, Victor, “Seattle Register of Historic Places Nomination Form for the Pioneer Square Historic
District,” Manuscript, ca. 1969 (University of Washington, Manuscripts and Special Collections- Accession
number 3252, 3252-2, Box 4, Folder 25

Address: 83 Columbia Street

Historic Name: Journal Building ? Built: 1898; 1914

Plat: Seattle Tide Lands Block 01-376/Block 195 /Lots 1-2 Parcel #: 7666202580
Style: Richardsonian Romanesque /Chicago School

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 5

Description

The building at 83 Columbia Street is a four story masonry building with parapet. The main, north elevation faces
Columbia Street, while the west elevation faces Western Avenue and the east elevation Post Alley. The ground
floor story is clad with rusticated stone, cut in large blocks, while the three upper floors are clad in brick. On these
floors, the lintels over window openings are marked by stretcher bricks sets vertically.

The ground floor openings - storefront and doorways - are trabeated and have clerestory windows. Storefront and
door frames and cladding are of wood. Openings at the ground level are generally of the same overall width as the
sets of windows on the floors above, except at the second bay of the north elevation, (counting from the east),
which instead has two doorways. The main doorway, located on the north elevation, is gently emphasized at the
clerestory level by a curved element, which flairs out at the top of each of the stone jambs. The other doorway, to
the east of the main doorway, is more utilitarian. It is detailed in a manner similar to the other wood elements of
the storefront. On the ground floor level, another interesting detail is that the large, central stone blocks of the
lintels are often cut in the shape of keystones.

On the upper floors, all the windows are double-hung and arranged in triple or double sets. The north elevation is
divided into five bays, with five sets of triple double-hung windows; the west elevation has four sets of triple
windows and then two sets of double windows. The east elevation has five sets of double windows and one triple
set of windows near the northeast corner of the building.
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Just below the parapet, the west, north and a portion of the east elevations are marked by a generous overhanging
metal cornice with well-sized dentils.

Cultural Data

83 Columbia St bears a plaque that says that it was erected in 1898, but according to the King County Record
Assessor’s record cards, this building was completed in 1914. While the Tax Assessor Records, at least as they
relate to the Pioneer Square area, seem occasionally inaccurate, according to oral tradition at the Daily Journal of
Commerce, the current main tenant of the building maintains that the first floor was completed in 1898, while
upper floors were added later at the beginning of the twentieth century. Most secondary sources give an historic
name for the building associated with newspapers or even the current tenant. The most common name seems to be
the Journal Building. Polk’s directories, however, suggest that the Daily Bulletin, the Daily Journal of
Commerce’s predecessor, only definitely became associated with the building in 1918 ( At that time, according to
advertisements, the Daily Bulletin had been in existence for 26 years). By 1921, the paper, by that time, called the
Daily Journal of Commerce, had headquarters in the building, as did other newspapers such as a weekly, The
American.

The building was built on the tidal flats, an area which began to be reclaimed in the 1890s and where a significant
industrial and commercial area was created, beginning in the 1900s. This building was part of the development of
the area, after the economic and industrial upturn caused first by the Klondike Gold Rush, and is again associated
with the increased industrialization of the area, as World War I approached.

The building is also architecturally distinguished and appears to be intact at the upper floors, with perhaps a few
changes to the wooden doors and street frontage at the ground level over the years.

Sources
King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Brown, Phil, Owner, Daily Journal of Commerce, Telephone Interview by Karin Link, 2 September, 2004.

Polk’s, City of Seattle Directories, 1919 and 1921.
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Address: 633 Post Avenue

Historic Name: New Post Station, Seattle Steam Company Built: 1902
Plat: Terry’s 3rd Addition/Block M/Lots 17 Parcel #: 8591400100
Style: Italian Renaissance /Commercial/Utilitarian

Engineer: Stone & Webster Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 6

Description

The Seattle Steam Company Post Street Plant, also known as Seattle Steam’s New Post Station, is a striking Neo-
Renaissance industrial building, located between Post Avenue and Western Avenue. It is adjacent to Seattle
Steam’s Old Post Station. The building is rectangular in plan and rises five stories, thanks to a steel and cross-
braced frame and additional structural elements of steel and concrete.

The main west elevation, facing Western Avenue, is divided into six bays, five of which are identical. The standard
vertical bay consists of two basement type windows, set in a rusticated sandstone base, above which is a sandstone
belt course. A long trabeated three-lite window opening occurs at the second floor, then a similar window
arrangement at the third level, topped by a clerestory level semi-circular window, also divided into three lites. This
is topped by another sandstone belt course and then by a grouping of three smaller arched windows at the fourth
floor. The spandrel above the fourth floor windows is topped by a metal ornamental band, (which runs the length
of the elevation), distinguished by a band of bead motifs and further up the wall, by a more classically detailed
metal cornice, including dentils and projecting modillions. Vertical bands of brick, beginning at the first level belt
course and topped by arched forms, emphasize the verticality of the bays. The top level of this typical bay has three
small rectangular windows. The parapet is marked by a thinner metal band and then, at the very top, a simple metal
projecting cornice.

In contrast, the north bay, which is slightly recessed, has a small, single window, more or less corresponding to
each level, with an arched window at the fourth floor, at the same height, as the grouping of three windows in the
typical bay. This configuration corresponds with the hoistway on the interior of the building, which was used to
move batteries to an upper battery room. The east fagade along Post Avenue has architectural elements similar to
the main Western Avenue fagade, except that there are no window openings at the second level and the elevation is
divided into six similar bays.

The west and east fagades are topped by a seventy foot smoke stack with a masonry base, an exact replica of the
original. The smoke stack is noticeable from many parts of Pioneer Square and Downtown Seattle. The roof
monitor has been removed and there is a corrugated metal door on the west elevation, which is clearly not original.
Aside from these changes, the building is surprisingly intact. This is also true on the interior of the building.
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Cultural Data (633 Post Avenue)

Along with the adjacent Old Post Station, this is one of the last working remnants of the original industrial fabric
of the Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic District. The building was erected between 1900 and 1902 by
Stone & Webster, the Boston based utility company. Founded in 1889 by Charles A. Stone and Edwin Webster,
both graduates of MIT in electrical engineering, the company was originally called the Massachusetts Electrical
Company. The firm began by managing utility plants in 1895. By 1902, it had begun financing the plants through
an in-house securities department and was also responsible for their construction. This Seattle Steam Plant appears
to be among the company’s earliest efforts and certainly one of their earliest enterprises in Seattle. Stone and
Webster had, in fact, maintained a significant presence in King County since 1898, when it had acquired the
region’s first hydroelectric plant at Snoqualmie Falls and its subsidiary, the Seattle Electric Company, took control
of Seattle area utilities, as well as the local street car lines.

The building has been in continuous use as a steam plant. In terms of function, the interior of the building was
designed to maximize the use of gravity in the movement of coal. Coal came into the building through “Hell’s
alley,” located at the southwest corner of the building. From there, it moved to the eastern portion of the building
and was raised by a conveyor to the roof, where it was emptied into a covered roof monitor and moved in a north-
south direction. From the roof monitor, the coal would be dropped into the coal bunkers below, and then from the
coal bunkers to the “water-tube” boilers. The plant also produced electricity for the streetcars, which had been
operating in Seattle, since before the Great Fire, thanks to two battery rooms, one in the basement and one at the
penthouse level.

The building still provides steam to most of Pioneer Square and to other areas of Seattle, from Pioneer Square
roughly up to Harvard Avenue to the east and between Blanchard Street to the north and King Street to the south.
High pressure steam lines provide steam to areas east of Interstate-5, while low pressure lines are used to provide
steam to Seattle’s downtown and west of the I-5. The fact that this is still a working steam plant, in itself] is
significant, since similar buildings throughout the United States have frequently been converted to other uses

The Neo-Renaissance composition, particularly of the original five bays along Western Avenue, is especially
striking. In addition, the smokestack, which is visible in many parts of Pioneer Square and Downtown Seattle, is
an important visual marker within the city. In the context of American urban history, this building is typical of
power production buildings associated with industrial growth at the turn of the twentieth century. It is similar to
several other industrial buildings produced by and administered by Stone & Webster or its subsidiaries in this
period

The top floor is not shown in the original drawings, but appears to have been added at the end of construction in
1902. The northern bay, corresponding to the hoistway and one of the battery rooms, was apparently added in
1935. Both the later date of design and construction and the functional aspects of the interior account for
differences between it and the symmetrically composed Neo-Renaissance elements of the earlier part of the fagade;
but stylistically, the difference between the two parts of the facade is not jarring. Aside from the 1935
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addition, as well as an enlargement of a door to accommodate the installation of a new generator, later filled in, the
building’s exterior appearance has been not been altered since 1902.

Sources
Crowley, Walt. “Interurban Rail Transit in King County and the Puget Sound Region - A Snapshot History.”
History Link.org, 19 September 2000. Database on-line. Available from http://www historylink.org/

Stickney & Murphy Architects. “Old Post Station, Seattle Steam Company,” Historic Preservation Certification
Application, Part 1,” 27 July 1993. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia,
Washington, Microfiche File.

Roberston, Amanda. “An Investigation of Post Avenue Steam Plants.” Report for URBDP 586. University of
Washington, 2003. City of Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program Files.

Address: 619 Post Avenue

Historic Name: Old Post Station, Seattle Steam Company Built: ca. 1890. Altered 1903
Plat: Terry’s 3rd Addition/Block M/Lots 17 Parcel #: 8591400100

Style: Utilitarian

Engineer: Stone & Webster (alterations 1903, 1910, 1913) Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 7

Description

This low, industrial brick building, in fact, combines two utilitarian masonry buildings, forming an overall structure
of irregular shape and floor plan. While both parts of the building have varying roof as well as interior floor levels,
the building appears to be one-story. It is located between the New Post Street Station to the northwest and the
Travelers Hotel/ Post Mews to the south, both early twentieth century buildings. Its street elevations face Post
Avenue and Western Avenue. On Post Avenue, the northern structure, angled in the northwest direction, mainly
has a flat roof with corbelled parapet, made up of three courses of brick- (two stretcher courses and a top layer of
headers bricks); until very recently, an exposed exterior roof truss also formed part of the roof landscape. The
building’s Post Avenue elevation is marked by three window openings with segmental arches, a door opening, now
closed-off by pieces of sheet metal and a small window with segmental arch. Set at an angle is the southen
structure, which is also brick clad. It has rectangular window with two lites each and concrete lintels. The corbelled
band set a few feet below the top of the parapet is made up of five courses of brick.

On Western Avenue, the north part of the structure has a narrow elevation with a large rectangular door opening.
Here, the northern and southern parts of the building form an acute angle. The south portion has a large double
window opening. The lintels above the doorway and windows are also of concrete. Any other detailing above the
doorway or windows is currently obscured by ivy.
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Cultural Data

The Old Post Station Facility, along with the Seattle Steam’s New Post Station, is one of the last working remnants
of the industrial fabric of the Pioneer Square-Skid Road Historic District. It definitely dates from before 1903, but
ascribing an earlier date for the entire building is difficult, although it seems very likely that at least portions of the
building date from 1890. The Seattle Steam Heat and Power Company was granted a “franchise” by the City of
Seattle to provide steam heating and water on February 19, 1890. In a letter of September 24, 1890, the Seattle
Steam Company described the imminent completion of a plant at 619 Post Avenue and the two duplex
Worthington steam pumps, which would provide water in the event of a fire. Whether all or part of the present
building was built around 1890, however, is uncertain. It is known that the east and north masonry walls were
constructed before 1903 and that the original boilers were located along a south wall. By 1903, the building had a
large stack, as well as boilers on the roof. The original building designer and builder are unknown; however, Stone
and Webster, the well-known Boston based utility company, who also designed the adjacent New Post Station,
modified it in 1903, 1910 and 1913. In 1913, the south fagade and a portion of the east fagade were reconstructed.
This building, like the New Post Station, is therefore associated with the company’s very early efforts in King
County.

The structure was also further modified by Puget Power in 1922. Interior columns were eliminated and exposed
exterior roof trusses on the northeast part of the building were added (only one was clearly visible, until very
recently). The only elements that post-date 1922 and that do not contribute to the integrity of this building are the
metal doors on the west and east elevations of the building. The building is a rare example of utilitarian
architecture in the district.

Sources
Crowley, Walt. “Interurban Rail Transit in King County and the Puget Sound Region - A Snapshot History.”
History Link.org, 19 September 2000. Database on-line. Available from http://www.historylink.org/

Stickney & Murphy Architects. “Old Post Station, Seattle Steam Company,” Historic Preservation Certification
Application, Part 1,” 27 July 1993. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia,
Washington, Microfiche File.

Robertson, Amanda. “An Investigation of Post Avenue Steam Plants.” Report for URBDP 586. University of
Washington, 2003. City of Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program Files.
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Address: 611 Post Avenue

Historic Name: Elgin Hotel/ Traveler’s Hotel Built: 1913

Plat: Travelers Hotel the Post Mews/ Lot 1 Parcel # : 8670450000
Style: Commercial

Architect: Albert Wickersham Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 8

Description

This is a three story building, rectangular in plan, with exterior walls in red brick and an original interior structure
of wood post and beam construction. It has a footprint of 96 feet by 101 feet and a full basement in concrete, as
well as a concrete foundation. Its two street facing elevations are on Yesler Way and Post Avenue (also known as
Post Alley). The upper two floors of the primary Yesler Way fagade consist of five bays, each with two separate
trabeated window openings per floor. The ground level of the Yesler Way elevation is storefront. The southwest
corner of Post Avenue elevation continues the storefront of the Yesler facade. The 110 foot Post Avenue elevation
also has five pairs of separate trabeated openings on its upper floors and wall expanse with no openings, which
corresponds to the storefront at the southwest corner of the ground level. The parapet is capped by a classically
detailed projecting metal cornice. Currently these two elevations are covered by a lot of ivy, so that specific details
of the elevations are not easily visible.

Cultural Data

Albert Wickersham, a local Seattle architect, responsible for the masterful Maynard Building of 1892, was the
architect of this building, first known as the Elgin Hotel and later as the Travelers Hotel. It was completed in 1913.
The building is located in the near vicinity of the former tidal flats, an area which began to be reclaimed in the
mid-1890s, and where a significant industrial and commercial area was created, beginning in the 1900s. This
building was part of the development of the area, after the economic and industrial upturn caused first by the
Klondike Gold Rush, and again, with the increased industrialization of the area, as World War I approached. The
building is located across the street from the Pioneer Square Hotel, formerly the Yesler Hotel of 1914, also
designed by Wickersham. It is not far from a number of warehouse and industrial buildings erected during the
same period, such as the Heffernan Engine Works Building of 1918. The design of the elevation is extremely
simple, and unlike the Yesler Hotel, does not particularly recall elements of some of the older Victorian buildings
in the area.

Albert Wickersham arrived in Seattle in 1889, as a representative of A. B. Jennings, a New York architect. He was
the supervising architect on the initial phases of the Denny Hotel in Seattle, later demolished thanks to the Denny
Regrade. He had an independent practice by 1893. Aside from the Maynard Building, the Denny Hotel and Seattle
Hardware Building, he appears to have received few commissions that allowed him to show off his full design
capabilities. This building, although very different from the Maynard Building and the Seattle Hardware Building,
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has well proportioned elevations, which use simple repeated elements to good effect.

Sources

Andrews, Mildred and Marc Blackburn, Dana Cox, Leonard Garfield, Karin Link, co-authors. Pioneer Square:
Seattle’s Oldest Neighborhood. Manuscript. Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, forthcoming
2005: especially chapter 9.

Baist, William. Baist’s Real Estate Atlas of Surveys of Seattle, Wash. Philadelphia: W. G. Baist, 1908 and 1912.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square.” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996,City of
Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen, Distant Comer: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson,
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Address: 77 Yesler Way

Historic Name: Yesler Hotel Built: 1914

Plat: Maynards D S Plat / Block 9/ Lot 7-8 Parcel #: 5247800005
Style: Commercial

Architect: Albert Wickersham Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 9

Description

The former Yesler Hotel is rectangular in plan and four stories in height. The only street facing elevation is the
main fagade on Yesler Way. The building is clad in brick and has a projecting classical cornice. The ground floor
level has several individual storefronts and an entry to the building. The design of the upper level consists of a
series of repeated rectangular window openings, some big and others small. In fact, they can be seen as three bays
and the rhythm of the facade, despite the repetition of similar window openings, is lively. Each bay starts with a
smaller rectangular window, which is followed by five full-size window openings and ends with a smaller window.
The pattern begins again with a small window followed by five full-size window and ends with a smaller window;
ending with the third set of window openings. Windows are double-hung. The only approximation to ornament is
the raised brick, which occurs over the lintels and at the top of window jambs. Sills are of brick. Also of interest
are the original balconies, made of flat iron pieces.

Cultural Data

Albert Wickersham was the architect of this building, formerly known as the Yesler Hotel. It was completed in
1914 and was a “flophouse” by the 1930s. It was restored again in the mid-1990s to become the Pioneer Square
Hotel, currently the only hotel in the district. The building was erected on the location of the tidal flats, an area
which began to be reclaimed in the 1890s, and where a significant industrial and commercial area was created,
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beginning in the 1900s. This building was part of the development of the area, after the economic and industrial
upturn caused, first by the Klondike Gold Rush, and then by the increased industrialization of the area, as World
War | approached. The building is located across the street from the Travelers’ Hotel/ Elgin Hotel, an even simpler
building from 1913 and also designed by Wickersham. It is not far from a number of warehouse and industrial
buildings erected during the same period, such as the Heffernan Engine Works Building of 1918. The design of the
elevation, although from 1914, recalls elements of some of the older Victorian buildings in the area, such as the St.
Charles Hotel or Our Home Hotel.

Albert Wickersham arrived in Seattle in 1889, as a representative of A. B. Jennings, a New York architect. He was
the supervising architect on the initial phases of the Denny Hotel in Seattle, later demolished as a result of the
Denny Regrade. He had an independent practice by 1893. Aside from the Maynard Building, the Denny Hotel and
Seattle Hardware Building, he appears to have received few commissions that allowed him to show off his full
design capabilities. This building not only cleverly mimics earlier buildings in the district, but also manages to
convey visual interest, with similar and simple repeated elements.

Sources

Cliver, E. Blaine, Chief Appeals Officer, Cultural Resources, Letter to Bart Seidler, n.d., stamped received May
1996.

Andrews, Mildred, Pioneer Square Journey, Map (walking tour), Seattle: Pioneer Square Community Council, ca.
2001.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen, Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson,
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Address: 110 Alaskan Way

Historic Name: Heffernan Engine Works Built: 1918

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 1/ Lot 8 Parcel #: 5247800015
Style: Commercial/ Industrial

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 10

Description

This 50 feet x 200 feet warchouse and manufacturing building is almost rectangular in plan. It has a main west
fagade, oriented toward Alaskan Way. The north part of the building is a two story structure, while the south
portion is three stories high. This is reflected in the western fagade (the north bay is two stories, the south bay steps
up to three stories). The west facade is clad in brick veneer in a common bond pattern and in a variety of colors,
mainly red and ocher. The parapet cap above the north bay is emphasized by a dentil course. A similar brick
parapet above the south bay was removed, probably as a result of the 1949 earthquake, around 1950. Currently, the
southern bay is covered by a shed roof that is lower at the north. Both bays of the west elevation have extensive
trabeated openings, filled with multi-pane wood frame windows and doors. The east elevation is poured concrete
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and is undistinguished.

Structurally, the building, although from 1918, is typical of buildings erected in the district right after the Great
Fire of 1889: side walls are brick bearing walls. The main fagade is also of brick. The interior is dominated by a
heavy timber post and beam system. It also includes deeps girders, posts with brackets and exposed roof and
mezzanine floor joists. The foundation is a poured concrete pier type. There is a partial basement with a slab floor.

Cultural Data

This industrial warehouse building was erected on the original tidal flats, which began to be reclaimed in the mid-
1890s, and near the site of many nearby industrial buildings. Prior to the Great Fire of 1889, a wood frame
warehouse sat on the site. That building as well as wharves, sawmills, print shops and other businesses were
destroyed by the fire. By 1904, another wood frame building which housed the Heffernan Engine Works’ engine
shed and machine shop had apparently replaced the wood structure, although a permit had also been granted to
build a masonry building, which was not built.

The Hull Building Company applied for a permit for the Heffernan Engine Works Building in May 1918.The
Heffernan Engine Works, which specialized in ship machinery was established by John T. Heffernan in 1899. In
1907, John Heffernan also founded the Heffernan Dry Dock Company; (by 1915, John Heffernan’s Dry Dock
Company was so successful that he was able to commission Kirtland Cutter to design a Tudor Revival home). By
1916, Heffernan Engine Works had equipped over seventeen steam vessels used for coastal trade purposes. It also
had large ship repair contracts with the United States Government. The Heffernan machine and pattern shops
offices and storage continued to be housed in the building until the late 1920s. In 1931, L. L. Buchanan purchased
the building and by the late 1930s, Draper Engine Works and Buchanan Auto Freight shared the building. Draper
Engine Works continued to occupy the building until 1979. From 1980 until 1998, the building housed the Old
Firchouse Antique Market, a retail antique mall. Around the late 1990s, the owner at the time considered a
renovation of the building.

This building is a vestige of the expansion of the original “burnt district,” as the district was called right after the
Great Fire. The area expanded significantly in the 1900s, both as a result of the Klondike Gold Rush of 1897-1898
and the prosperity brought by the railroads. The building is also representative of a type of utilitarian building,
erected on the reclaimed tide flats, as both railroads and shipping became increasingly important and Railroad
Avenue, (now Alaskan Way), was gradually transformed. The building is also associated with economic -and
industrial growth along the waterfront as a result of World War 1. It was occupied by a business involved in
shipbuilding, which was founded not very long after the Great Fire of 1889, as were several other warehouses
along First Avenue South, for instance. The building continued to serve industrial uses well into the 1970s, a rarity
this late and this close to the original heart of the Pioneer Square Historic District.

Overall, despite some changes, the main Alaskan Way fagade retains a significant part of its original design
features. Most of the window and door openings of the main facade are original. On the south bay, three original X
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braced doors with twelve panel upper lights remain at the street level. Other multi-pane windows and doors on the
lower half of the south fagade are replacements, but very similar to the originals. The historical multi-pane
window and door sashes have been replaced over time, (most original windows were top hinge operated), but are
similar to the originals. At the lower portion of the north bay, multi-pane glazing replaced an original storefront
with panel doors and sidelights, while the mezzanine level had multi-pane windows as it does now. Also on the
north bay, the current multi-pane sash at the upper level replaced separated window units.

Interestingly, the original 1970 National Register Nomination for the Pioneer Square District appears to make no
mention of this building at all, not even as an intrusion.

Sources
APH Corporation, “Heffernan Engine Works, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” N.D.,
(OAHP Archives Microfiche File).

“The Compass Center, 77-79 South Washington Street, Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” 24 January
24, 2003. .

Address:114 Alaskan Way

Historic Name: Prudential Building/ Fred Cole Building Built: 1902
Plat: Maynards D S Plat / Block 1/ Lot 3 Parcel #: 524780002
Style: Commercial / Chicago School

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 11

Description

This six story warehouse and manufacturing building occupies a long, narrow lot, and has an angled fagade, which
echoes the northwest line of Elliott Bay. Its main west fagade is oriented toward Alaskan Way and is currently set
fairly close to the Alaskan Way Viaduct. The other elevations are not visible from the street. The exterior walls
are masonry, while the interior structural system is heavy timber. It includes timber columns and flooring. The west
elevation, painted brick, consists, at the lower level, of a double height storefront, divided into two bays, which are
surmounted by a flat belt-course, emphasized by a dentil band beneath it. The upper part of the fagade consists of
two recessed bays. Here, each bay opening contains four wood sash double-hung windows, set side by side. The
four level bays are each emphasized by a simple band of raised brick which creates a rectangular enclosure around
each bay. The top of the fagade is topped by a sign that says “Prudential,” originally made of sandstone. A
rehabilitation in the mid- 1980s added a penthouse, which is barely visible from the street and only from certain
angles.
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Cultural Data

The Prudential Building appears to have been built in 1902, a time of great prosperity in Seattle, as a result of the
Klondike Gold Rush. Other records suggest that it was may have been built somewhat later, between 1904 and
1905. The building was erected on the tidal flats, which by 1893 were being reclaimed to create Railroad Avenue,
now Alaskan Way. Soil from the regrading of the Seattle’s hills was used to fill in the swamplands bordering
Elliott Bay. Because of the difficulty of this enterprise and a dispute over the grading of the new streets in the
tidelands area, construction had been held up for a time; however, by 1902, construction in this area was in full
force. The Prudential Building was a harbinger of the subsequent development of the Seattle tidelands into a
valuable manufacturing district. To the north of the Prudential Building is the former Heffernan Engine Works
Building, (110 Alaskan Way), a later building of 1918, which replaced a series of wooden industrial buildings; but
there are also vestiges of the first development of the area, right after the fire of 1889: the former Lowman and
Hanford Printing and Binding Building (68-74 South Washington St) from 1890, sits to the south of the Prudential
Building.

The Prudential Building is, in many ways, typical of the type of warehouse and manufacturing building, erected at
the time of the economic and industrial boom, after the Klondike Gold Rush of 1897-98. While it is a simple
building, the design of its facade resembles many of the Chicago School influenced warehouse buildings, built in
this period in the Pioneer Square area, such as the Seller or the Hambach Building, on First Avenue South, between
Jackson and King Street, for instance.

The building was owned by the Prudential Bond Investment Company from 1904 to 1923, and then by William
Grimshaw, vice-president of the Prudential Company, primarily a real estate firm, from 1923 to 1946. At least from
the 1920s until the late 1960s, the Prudential Building housed industrial businesses. In the 1920s and 1930s, it was
the home of Acme Steel and Valco Chemical Companies, while the upper floors served a variety of uses:
warehouse, office and residential space.
Sources ‘

“The Prudential Building (Fred Cole Co. Bldg.), 114 Alaskan Way, Historic Preservation Certification
Application, Part I,” September 13, 1982.

“The Compass Center, 77-79 South Washington Street, Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” 24 January
2003.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square.” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996, City of
Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.




NPS Form 10-900a OMB No. 1024-0018
(Rev. 8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet - rioneer SQUARE-SKID ROAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Section number 7 Page 34 of 289

Address: 68 S. Washington St

Historic Name: Lowman & Hanford Printing and Binding Building Built: 1890
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 1/ Lot 4 Parcel #: 5247800030

Style: Richardsonian Romanesque/ Commercial '

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 11

Description

The former Lowman and Hanford Printing and Binding Building, now the Washington Park Building, was built
right after the Great Fire of 1889 and completed in 1890. It is irregular in plan, with its longer southern elevation
on Washington Street, as well as a shorter west elevation angled to the northwest, parallel to the former Railroad
Avenue, now Alaskan Way. The building exterior is distinguished, in particular, by its rusticated street level stone
piers, surmounted by characteristic triangular metal ornaments, which emphasize the main bays. Upper floors have
red brick cladding with stone sills. The street level is, in fact, a series of high commercial storefronts, with a
mezzanine clerestory. The base of the building, in stone and metal, contrasts with the upper two levels in brick, but
the entire composition is divided, both horizontally as well as vertically into a grid, not atypical of the Victorian
tendencies of buildings erected in the district, right after the Great Fire. Upper bays are well defined by brick piers,
which usually are a continuation of the rusticated stone piers at the ground/mezzanine level.

On the south elevation, at the second and third levels, there are nine similar bays, each with two individual double-
hung windows. Each brick spandrel between the second and third levels has a recessed square, relating to the
window above and below it. The most western bay of the south elevation consists of three windows, (per floor),
instead of two. Turning the corner on Alaskan way, there is a similar bay, consisting of a horizontal row of three
windows, but the design of the Alaskan Way elevation is generally less regular. Following this, a central bay at the
upper levels has two distinct and well spaced windows, and the last bay to the north is a typical bay with a
horizontal row of two windows. Because the width of the Alaskan Way elevation is so much smaller, and because
the Alaskan Way Viaduct currently cuts out a full view of the upper levels, the Victorian detailing of the lower
level - the rusticated piers and the comparatively flimsy cladding and triangular/pediment-like ornamentation above
it - takes on more prominence.

Currently, there is a painted sign on the brick at the third level announcing that this is the L& H Printing Company,
but another sign at the second level saying “Seattle’s Oldest Retail Company™ suggests that this sign, at least, is a
much more recent addition, since the word “retail” was not used in this way in the 1890s.
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Cultural Data

This building dates from 1890. Despite a little patching here and there, and perhaps the loss of some of the original
stone plinth, the building is a mostly intact example of an early industrial building, originally sited at the very edge
of the district. It appears to have been built for the Lowman and Hanford Stationery and Printing Company right
after the fire of 1889. One account, however, suggests that the occupants in 1905, Harrington and Smith, actually
built and first occupied the building. Other documents suggest that Lowman and Hanford were indeed the original
occupants of the building.

The building was erected close to what had once been the original coastal shoreline and on reclaimed tidal flats
along Railroad Avenue, now Alaskan Way. This area was to become the site of increased industrial development,
particularly after 1902; however, this building, typical of the earliest buildings erected right after the fire of 1889,
would remain along Railroad Avenue, despite booms and busts and increased industrial growth.

James Lowman and Clarence Hanford, associated with the stationery and printing company, which was later to
have offices in the Lowman and Hanford Building, located in Pioneer Place, were both local civic and business
leaders, with important ties to Seattle’s earliest pioneer settlers. The Lowman and Hanford Stationery and Printing
Company was an early Seattle business, which began operation in the Pioneer Square area as early as 1885. The
Great Fire of 1889 destroyed all buildings, (save perhaps one), in the “burnt district,” as Pioneer Square was
known after the fire. The Lowman and Hanford Stationery and Printing Company returned to the former “burnt
district,” after the fire, apparently building both this building, which they moved into in 1890 and, subsequently,
the Lowman Hanford Building of 1892, facing what is now Pioneer Place. The firm advertised itself as
booksellers, stationers, printers and binders and blank bookmakers; but also showed great versatility and sold
typewriters, sewing machines, pianos and organs.

James D. Lowman, born in Leitersburg, Maryland in 1856, had come to Seattle in 1877 at the invitation of Henry
Yesler, who was his uncle. Famous for building Seattle’s first sawmill in 1853, a founding father and very early
Seattle entrepreneur, Yesler also commissioned several well-known buildings near Pioneer Place, employing first
Elmer Fisher and then Emil DeNeuf as architects. Later, Lowman and Hanford were to employ DeNeuf for their
1892 Lowman and Hanford Building in Pioneer Place.

Lowman’s association with the printing business predates this building. After working as assistant wharf manager
for his uncle for four years, in 1881, he bought half interest in a bookstore owned by W. H. Pumphrey. Pumphrey
and Lowman were in business, until Lowman bought out Pumphrey in 1882, and started the Lowman and Hanford
Stationery and Printing Company with Clarence Hanford in 1885. In the meantime, in 1886, Lowman would
become a trustee of Yesler’s estate, which included many businesses all over Washington State. As a result,
Lowman was involved in the completion of the Pioneer Building and of the Mutual Life Building, (then called the
Yesler Building), both commissioned by Henry Yesler before his death in 1892. Lowman himself commissioned
the Lowman Building on Pioneer Place.
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Lowman’s associate, Clarence Hanford was was born in Seattle in 1857 and the son of pioneer settlers. After
attending the Territorial University of Washington, Hanford learned the printing trade in the offices of the Seattle
Intelligencer,(the forerunner of the Seattle Post-Intelligencer), which was published by Thaddeus Hanford, his
elder brother. In 1880, he established a job printing business. When the Lowman and Hanford Stationery and
Printing Company was created, Lowman became president and Clarence Hanford vice-president. Lowman was also
principal stockholder, while Hanford, whose original business was absorbed by the new company, became manager
of the printing and bookmaking department.

By 1905, the building was owned, occupied and named after the Harrington and Smith Company, which had been
started in 1871 as Crawford and Harrington. Harrington and Smith were wholesale dealers of groceries, hardware,
building supplies and ship chandlery.

Sources

“The Lowman Building, 107 Cherry Street, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1, 5 February ,
2004.

The Conservation Company, “ Lowman-Hanford Building, 612-616 First Avenue, Historic Preservation
Certification, Part 1,” April, 1982.

Address: 81 S. Washington St

Historic Name: St Charles Hotel Built: 1889

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 1 Parcel #: 5247800065
Style: Richardsonian Romanesque/ Victorian/ Commercial
Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 13

Description

This is a three story building, dating from right after the Fire of 1889. It has exterior walls in red brick and an
interior structure in heavy timber post and beam. Its one fagade on Washington Street has an implied symmetrical
composition, although the last bay to the east is wider than its counterpart to the south. There is a central bay with
a single arched doorway at the ground floor, a single window opening with a segmental arch at the second floor,
and a single window opening with an arched opening at the third floor. This is topped by a raised portion of the
parapet with a sign with “1889,” emphasized by a special thickening of the brick wall on each side with corbel
decoration.

To each side of the central bay are two bays of storefront. These are surmounted at the second level by two
separate windows, topped by segmental arches. The top of all the openings at this level are framed by smooth
stone, with decorative keystone motifs, that protrude out of the frame. Corresponding to the second floor openings,
are the arched third floor openings, with stone frames around the arched portion of the opening, in rusticated stone.
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Of note are the engaged brick piers, that vertically separate the bays and the decorative corbelling, which runs the
length of the Washington Street fagade. The east elevation, facing the alley, is visible from the street. It has regular
window openings, topped by segmental arches. In general, windows are wood frame and double-hung.

Cultural Data

Part of the property of early settler Dr. David Maynard, this building was built in 1889, not long after the Great
Fire of June 6, 1889. Like many of the buildings of this time, it has a brick fagade, divided in Victorian fashion by
a grid. It uses two similar, but differing, window openings. Its chief adornment is brick corbelling, in addition to a
modest amount of stone trim. It is typical of buildings erected in the district, right after the fire and yet has its own
distinctive architectural quality. Its original name is the St. Charles Hotel and it has operated as a hotel for a long
time.

The St. Charles Hotel can be seen in later historic photographs of the elevated Seattle Municipal Street railway,
which was completed on September 4, 1919. The elevated railway line ran east and west along Washington Street,
from and to the former Railway Avenue, now Alaskan Way. It moved past what is now the former Pacific Coast
Company Building at 77 S. Washington St, the St. Charles Hotel, (still its name in 1919), the “little Collins
Building,” which in 1919 housed the C. M. & St. P. Employment Agency, and past the J & M Café. The railway
was built mainly to speed the arrival of workers involved in shipbuilding in Seattle’s southern harbor, which was
heavily involved in building ships for the war effort during World War 1.

Sources
Dorpat, Paul. “101 The Railroad Avenue Elevated.” Seattle, Now and Then. Seattle: Tartu Publications, 1984.
King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972 (source of date of building).

Address: 77 S. Washington St

Historic Name: Pacific Coast Company Building Built: 1904 & 1908 (5" f1.)
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 1 Parcel #: 5247800070

Style: Richardsonian Romanesque/ Commercial

Architect: James Donnelson? Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 14
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Description

This five story building is roughly square in plan. It has exterior un-reinforced brick walls, interior steel columns
and beams and wood floor and roof joists. It occupies a corner lot on the south side of South Washington Street,
along the former Railroad Avenue, now Alaskan Way. The building has two street facing elevations, the main
north fagcade on Washington Street and the west elevation, which sits close to the current Alaskan Way Viaduct.
The upper four floors of these elevations are both clad in light brown dry-pressed brick, with sandstone trim, while
the ground floor level has a veneer of flush sandstone, cut in relatively long narrow bands. The interior lots walls
are of unadorned brick.

The main fagade is divided into three bays. At the ground level, the central bay has an arched entry, while each bay
opening to either side contains storefront. Each storefront is divided into three sections by thin, delicate metal piers
and has transoms. The storefronts are set over a sandstone base, corresponding to the basement level, and a double
stone belt-course. Each of the four top levels have central bay openings, filled by a row of five double-hung
windows. On either side of the central bay, the bay openings have a row of three double-hung windows. The main
cladding is light brown brick. Lintels and string-courses, which sometimes double as sills or lintels, as well as
rusticated quoining to each side of the upper window openings, are of sandstone.

The west, Alaskan Way fagade, is also divided into thirds, with a configuration similar to the South Washington
fagade, on its upper floors. The ground floor elevation has paired double-hung windows in three centered groups.
In general, these elevations reflect the interior structural layout of four primary columns at the bay division lines.

Cultural Data

The first four floors of the building, originally owned by the Pacific Coast Company, were erected between 1903
and 1904, a time of prosperity in Seattle, as a result of the Klondike Gold Rush. A fifth floor was added in 1908.
According to a 2003, “Historic Certification Application, Part 1,” the architect was James Donnelson. The building
was erected on the tidal flats, which by the 1890s were being reclaimed to create Railroad Avenue, now Alaskan
Way. Soil from the regrading of the Seattle’s hills was used to fill in the swamplands bordering Elliott Bay.
Because of the difficulty of this undertaking and a dispute over the grading of the new streets in the tidelands area,
construction of buildings had been held up for a time; however, by 1902, construction began to boom, creating a
new and thriving industrial and manufacturing area.

The building was originally occupied by the Pacific Coast Company, later known as the Pacific Railroad Company,
which operated both coal mines (mainly near Issaquah and Newcastle), as well as railroad and steamship lines. The
Pacific Railroad Company appears to have occupied this building into the 1920s. By 1926 and into the 1930s, there
were several tenants, including Seattle Public Employment, which remained until 1938, when the Volunteers of
America Mission took over occupancy of the building. Subsequently, in 1941, the Lutheran Church, which
founded Lutheran Compass Center, owned the building, although, from 1943 to 1945, the Coast Guard were
tenants and used it for a communications center and offices. In 1946, the Lutheran Compass Mission and the
Compass Center Hotel moved in and still occupy the building today.
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Sources
“The Compass Center, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1, 77-79 South Washington Street,” 24
January, 2003,

Address: 210 Alaskan Way S.

Name: Lutheran Compass Center Addition Built: 2004

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 2 Parcel #: 5247800080
Style: Modemn

Architect: Stickney Murphy Romine

Builder: Unknown

Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 15

Description
New construction has recently replaced what little was left of one of two historic buildings, which had already
undergone a complete makeover in the 1960s.

The present building, a four story concrete structure, functions as an addition to 77 S. Washington Street and
adjoins it along Alaskan Way. It has only one main, west fagade along Alaskan Way, not visible at the third and
fourth levels, because of the Alaskan Way Viaduct, located just to west. The facade is clad at the first level in
concrete, treated to match the color of the sandstone of the main building, while the upper floors are clad in
concrete with brick veneer. All openings are trabeated.

On the north side of the facade, the first level consists of four bays: a recessed bay with service doors is followed
by a double door entrance, surmounted by large, glazed fixed windows. The entrance is further emphasized by two
vertical columns, made from steel sections, surmounted by a canopy of bent steel sections. To the south of the
entrance are two bays, each consisting of pairs of large window openings with clerestories. At the upper levels,
openings begin to the south of the recessed bay. Each bay consists of a row of three double-hung windows.

Significance
The present building was completed very recently, in 2004. It was designed by the Seattle architectural firm,
Stickney Murphy Romine, as as an addition to 77 S. Washington Street. Like 77 S. Washington Street, this
building is presently owned and operated by the Lutheran Compass Center. The exterior cladding and fenestration
were carefully detailed to fit with the original building. Because of the date of this building, it is non historic, non
contributing.

This new building replaced the vestiges of historic structures. Two one-story masonry retail buildings originally
occupied the site at 208-210 Railroad Avenue (now Alaskan Way South). Tax Assessor’s Records suggest that the
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northern one dated from 1889 and the southern one from 1916. These buildings housed various second-hand shops
and hardware stores, such as the People’s Supply Company. In 1961, the northern portion of the site, (adjacent to
the Lutheran Compass Center), was demolished and replaced by a surface parking lot, while the exterior of the
west portion of the southern building was also apparently demolished, but rebuilt.

Sources

“People’s Supply Company, 208-210 Alaskan Way, Historic Certification Application, Part 1.” 23 December,
2003.

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Address: 212 Alaskan Way S.

Historic Name: O. K. Hotel Built: 1917

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 3 Parcel #: 5247800090
Style: Commercial

Architect: Ishram Johnson Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 16

Description

This is a five story building, with exterior brick walls and an original wood frame interior structure. It has one
primary facade along Alaskan Way, divided into three bays. It has a 61 feet by 136 feet footprint, with a concrete
foundation and basement. The ground level of the fagade consists of wood sash storefronts, with plate glass
windows and high transoms, divided by tall vertical muntins. The three storefronts are trimmed with turquoise-
colored brick lintels. Above the storefront level, the bays are separated by four story brick piers, which have
corbels for capitals. There is also continuous corbelling between the “capitals™ at the parapet level. At the upper
level, each bay has two trabeated window openings, with a pair of double-hung windows in a wood frame. The top
light of the double-hung windows is multi-pane, and has been so historically. Edges of window openings, areas
under sills and above lintels, as well as the corners of piers, are emphasized by darker brickwork. This establishes
an overall decorative grid pattern, which contrasts with the regular and predominant red facing brick of the fagade

Cultural Data

Drawings for 212 Alaskan Way South, known as the O. K. Hotel, were completed by Ishram B. Johnson in March
1914, with construction occurring between 1915 and 1917. There seems to be little other information on Ishram
Johnson. The building was commissioned by Harry Buttnick, who bought the site in 1909. He had begun his
project as a warehouse building, but then constructed a hotel, with retail at the ground floor and warehouse
facilities in the basement.

While the building has a later date, its structure and facade follow many of the conventions used on earlier Pioneer
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Square buildings: the separation of bays by tall multi-story piers, the use of corbelling to create both the idea of
pier “capitals” and general decoration at the top of the fagade. This building was part of the development of the
area, first after the economic and industrial upturn, caused first by the Klondike Gold Rush and the building of the
railroads, and then by the increased industrialization of the area, associated with World War 1.

The hotel opened in 1917 and offered lodgings to World War I industrial workers and then to loggers, and was
known as a workingmen’s hotel.

Sources
Andrews, Mildred. “O.K. Hotel — 212 Alaskan Way South, Seattle, Historic Preservation Certification Application,
Part 1.” n.d. (ca. 2002).

Brians, Ann Elizabeth. Indomitable Pioneer Square. Master of Urban Planning Thesis, University of Washington,
Seattle, 1973.

King County Assessor’s Reports, ca. 1936-1972.

Address: 76 S Main St/ 218 Alaskan Way S.

Historic Name: Boston Hotel/ Puget Sound Hotel Built: 1907
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 4 Parcel #: 5247800095
Style: Commercial

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 17

Description

This three story building, which has red brick exterior walls and stone trim, is located on the northeast corner of
Alaskan Way South and Main Street. It is virtually rectangular in plan, but has an angled bay between its two
primary facades on Main Street and on Alaskan Way. It is distinguished by storefront on the first floor of the Main
Street fagade, which continues past the doorway of the angled bay, into the first southern bay of the Alaskan Way
facade. These storefronts include transom levels, topped by a projecting cornice. There is also a similar projecting
cornice above trabeated openings at the north bays of the Alaskan Way elevation. The Main Street storefronts are
also distinguished by several original cast-iron columns, which separate storefront bays. At the upper levels, all
primary facades have trabeated openings, including five windows, (per floor), facing Main Street; a single opening
per floor on the angled bay; and ten openings along Alaskan Way. There is a thin stone belt-course, which doubles
as a continuous sill, below the second and third story windows. Lintels are also of stone, which constrasts in color
with the red brick.
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The building exterior retains the most important architectural features, while others have been carefully replaced in
kind, or in keeping with the original design, following changes that have occurred over the years. The original
metal cornice at the top of the building was removed in 1968 and never replaced. In 1980, the Main Street entry to
the first floor was changed from a double to a single door entry, which provided access to offices on the second
and third floors. The building was renovated and certified around 1990. It retained the business storefront on the
ground floor, facing Main Street, while the interior on the upper levels has been modified to create apartments. The
1990s renovation also changed the Main Street entry back to a double door. Storefronts were restored to match the
historical appearance of the original storefronts, with some small differences. In addition,the cornices above the
first floor were rebuilt to match the profile of the original cornices, which were in disrepair. A penthouse, which is
not visible (or hardly visible) from the street was also added.

Cultural Data

According to King County Tax Assessor Record cards, the Boston Hotel building dates from 1907, although the
Victorian style of some of the detailing makes it more typical of buildings constructed earlier, perhaps a few years
after the Great Fire of 1889. On its ground floor, the building housed the Puget Sound Hardware Company, known
for providing supplies to potential prospectors involved in the Klondike Gold Rush. The upper floors housed the
Boston Hotel, which provided lodging to similar clientele. Historically, the building had a second address : “218
Railroad Avenue.”

Sources
Brians, Ann Elizabeth. Indomitable Pioneer Square. Master of Urban Planning Thesis, University of Washington,
Seattle, 1973.

King County Assessor’s Reports, ca. 1936-1972.

Brunner Jr., George David. “Old Boston Hotel, 76 S. Main Street, Historic Preservation Certification Application,
Part 1,” 9 February 1990.

Address: 80 S Main St

Historic Name: Victor Appel Building Built: 1951

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 2/ Lot 4 Parcel #: 5247800100
Style: Modern/ Industrial

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 17
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Description

This is a two story building from 1950-51, which replaced an original one story building from 1895. Its primary
fagade on Main Street is of concrete block, with brick veneer on the lower level. It is unobtrusive and, in terms of
scale, fits in with the rest of the Historic District. It is not architecturally striking in any way.

Cultural Data (80 S. Main St)

This building is non- historical, non-contributing within the Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic District. It
sits on the former site of a one story building from 1895, which was torn down in 1949-50. That building’s
demolition may well be related to the 1949 Earthquake. The previous building was also the location of some of
Seattle’s early Chinese laundries and housed a bath house.

Sources
Brians, Ann Elizabeth. Indomitable Pioneer Square. Master of Urban Planning Thesis, University of Washington,
1973.

King County Assessor’s Reports, ca. 1936-1972.

“Department of Community Development, Pioneer Square Preservation District Inventory.” May, 1982.

Address: 75 S Main St

Historic Name: Alaska Hotel, Alaska Commercial Hotel, Our Home Hotel Built: 1892
Plat: Our Home Hotel/ Lot Unit 85 Parcel #: 6347008888

Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque/ Victorian

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic, Contributing Site ID #: 19

Description

This is a three story building with basement. It has a primary fagade along Main Street and an elevation facing the
former Railroad Avenue, now Alaskan Way. Exterior walls are of red brick and, as is typical of many Pioneer
Square buildings, the interior structure was of heavy timber construction, but was rebuilt in the late 1980s. The
building footprint is 135 feet along Main Street and about 40 feet along Alaskan Way South. Alley facing walls to
the east and south are also of red brick. The plan is virtually rectangular with a single angled bay between Main
Street and Alaskan Way.

The Main Street fagade is divided into seven bays. Like many Victorian facades in the district, the facade is
divided into a grid, both horizontally, by belt-courses in metal and in brick, and vertically, by engaged brick piers.
The ground floor consists of wood storefronts, now reconstructed, set between brick piers. A metal belt-course
surmounts the first floor. At the second and third levels, the facade consists of repeated window openings with
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segmental arches. These are emphasized by raised ornamental brick bands, which follow the outline of the top of
the openings. The first six bays consist of three segmental window openings per bay. The seventh bay has only two
segmental openings per floor. The bay divisions are emphasized by the engaged brick piers between bays. Below
the brick sills of the second story windows, rectangles with angled stretcher bricks add visual interest, as does the
corbelling at the top of each bay and at the parapet. Except for the metal bases applied to the ground level piers and
the sheet metal cornice above the first level, all ornamentation is achieved in brick, most often by various types of
corbelling or bands of trim brick.

The single angled bay between Main Street and Alaskan Way uses all the same devices and is a continuation of the
Main Street fagade. The same is true of the northernmost bay of the Alaskan Way elevation. Beyond this bay, the
metal cornice, detailing of the window openings and corbelled cornice stops abruptly. The rest of the elevation,
which currently buts up fairly closely to the Alaskan Way Viaduct, has plain segmental openings and unadorned
red brick cladding.

Cultural Data

75-85 South Main Street was originally known as the Alaska Hotel and its address at the time was “113 West
Main.” According to historian John Tess, it dates from 1892, although Victor Steinbrueck’s handwritten draft for
“Pioneer Square Historic District — Seattle Register of Historic Places” says 1895. The building is typical of
buildings erected in the district, soon after the Great Fire of 1889, both in its general construction and in the
Victorian grid composition of its facade. The design uses the same repeated segmental opening, while the main
embellishments of the facade rely on an interesting use of brick detailing. It was rehabilitated in the late 1980s and
retains the most important features of its exterior. The exterior is virtually intact.

The original proprietors of the Alaska Hotel were Jacob T. Martin and George Worrall, both of whom resided in
the hotel, according to the Seattle City Directories from 1892. In 1891, the Seattle directories listed Jacob T.
Martin as an engineer, so it is possible that he had a hand in the construction of the building; however, by 1893, the
new proprietors of the building are listed as John Willard and Lorenzo Tatro.

By 1895, “William F. Butler & Son” were owners and seem to have run the Alaska Hotel as a family business.
Butler Family members, residing at the Alaska Hotel in 1895, included Spencer Butler, presumably the son, and
Mabel and Maggie Butler, listed as chambermaids. William Butler had previously been the proprietor of the West
Street Hotel at Columbia Street (and Western Avenue) in 1893. He appears to have switched from running the
West Street Hotel to the Alaska Hotel sometime in 1894. He continued to be listed as the proprietor of the hotel
until 1900, although the name of the hotel was changed to the Alaska-Commercial Hotel in 1899, because the
former Alaska Hotel was now being run jointly with the Commercial Hotel, next door at “107 West Main Street.”
It is likely that the Alaska-Commercial Hotel was a typical workingman’s hotel. By the late 1890s, there were
many hotels in the neighborhood that would cater to the influx of people, as a result of the Klondike Gold Rush. A
restaurant, the Alaska Restaurant, was added to the hotel, in 1897.
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From 1901 to 1905, Jacob Haas and Joseph Perry were proprietors of the Alaska- Commercial Hotel. In the 1920s,
J. Nishimoto was listed as proprietor, at a time when many hotels in the district were run by Japanese families. By
the 1890s, Nihonmachi, “Japan Town,” ran along Main Street, but started farther east from Second Avenue South
and ran east from there. In 1930, the hotel was renamed ‘Our Home Hotel.” By this time, it is likely that the hotel
was being run from the original “Alaska Hotel” building.

Sources

Chin, Doug. Seattle’s International District: The Making of a Pan-Asian American Community. Seattle:
International Examiner Press, 2001 (especially pages 25-30).

Tess, John M., Historic Consultant and President, Heritage Investment Corporation and DKB Corporation. “Our
Home Hotel, 75-85 South Main Street, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Parts 1 and 2,” 14 August,
1986 and 12 September, 1986.

Address: 304 Alaskan Way S.

Historic Name: Oregon and Washington Railroad and Navigation Co. Built: 1890
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 3/ Lots 1-2 Parcel #: 5247800140

Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque/ Victorian

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic, Contributing Site ID #: 20

Description

Located between South Main Street and South Jackson Street, this is a three story building with only one primary
fagade along Alaskan Way South. It has exterior brick walls and an original interior structure of wood post and
beam. It has a footprint of 50 feet by 110 feet with a parapet. It has a concrete foundation and basement. Above the
ground level, the main facade is distinguished by three bays, each composed of two segmental arched openings, per
floor. Separating the three bays are brick piers. Corbelling visually closes off each of the bays. There is also a
corbelled band that runs the length of the fagade. The first level is used as a loading dock, and also has a low,
angled wood roof, that has been added, making it difficult to see the openings. This much is obvious: to the north is
a segmentally-arched doorway, followed by a window opening with a segmental arch, then, a series of trabeated
openings, including a main entry with double doors and two windows with multi-pane transoms, which look

original.

Cultural Data

304 Alaskan Way South was completed in 1890, according to King County Tax Assessor records. It is typical of
buildings erected in the district, right after the Great Fire of 1889. This is true, both in terms of construction and in
the design and detailing of the fagade: the expression of the brick piers, the use of corbelling and the repeated
segmental arched openings. From 1913 to 1954, the Oregon and Washington Railroad and Navigation Company
owned the building, which was used to warehouse goods, transported by their trains. Based on an historical
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photograph from the 1930s, the building already had a loading dock and many signs that obscured its ground level.

Most historical studies do not give the building much credit, except for being part of the district, but it is, in fact,
one of the few remaining buildings from as early as 1890 in the Pioneer Square-Skid Road National Historic
District, and also located close to the former tidal flats. Only the former Lowman & Hanford Printing and Binding
Building from 1890, (69 S. Washington St), is located as close to the former tide flats. The St. Charles Hotel from
1889 is located one building to the east, but in the vicinity. The building’s exterior is also virtually intact,
particularly the upper floors. The makeshift wooden roof at the lower floor and the wood fire stairs make it hard to
see some details, but the most important elements seem to be unchanged.

Sources
Brians, Ann Elizabeth. Indomitable Pioneer Square. Master of Urban Planning Thesis, University of Washington,
Seattle, 1973.

King County Assessor’s Reports, ca. 1936-1972.

Lange, Greg and Tim O’Brian. “Virtual Pioneer Square,” unpublished manuscript, 27 October 1996. City of
Seattle, Department of Neighborhoods, Historic Preservation Program files.

Steinbrueck, Victor, “Inventory Nomination Form, Seattle Register of Historic Places, Item 20,”
Hand-written draft, ca. 1969.

Address: 316 Alaskan Way S.

Historic Name: Terminal Garage Built: 1909

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 3/ Lots 2-3-4 Parcel #: 5247800150
Style: Utilitarian

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic, Non-Contributing Site ID #: 21

Description

Located on the north corner of Alaskan Way and Jackson Street, this 1909 building has three stories and a
basement. It has a stucco veneer and wide trabeated windows. Underneath the stucco, the exterior walls are of
brick and the window openings have brick sills. The building has eight bays along Alaskan Way and seven bays
along Jackson Street and its footprint is 150 feet by 140 feet. It has interior wood timber structure, as well as some
concrete walls.

A photo from 1936 shows a brick parapet, set back over the stucco, suggesting that the building was reclad at some
point. It may have originally looked like many earlier brick buildings in Pioneer Square from 1909. Its interior,
with the preponderance of heavy timber structure, is typical of many buildings in the district from the period. The
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1936 photo shows that the windows were then industrial sash, which have been replaced. The photo also shows
one open trabeated opening along Alaskan Way and on the Jackson Street elevation, two similar ones on the west
side, as well as another opening on the east side.

Cultural Data

This building, formerly given the address 84 South Jackson Street, dates from 1909, according to King County Tax
Assessor Record cards. It currently serves as a garage for Pioneer Square. It was called the Terminal Garage from
1919 to 1948. The building was considered an intrusion in the original nomination. Its significance still remains
doubtful. The exterior has clearly been significantly changed, although the heavy timber interior structure is typical
of early district buildings and is relatively unchanged.

In 1957, records show that the Orphans Home of Seattle made changes to the building. There do not seem to be
any records that show what the building looked like in 1909, but it seems likely that, while the general shape and
the window openings may not have been changed for some time, extensive changes were made to the exterior and
particularly to the cladding, parapet and windows.

Although the building has served as a garage since 1919, in general, it does not appear to be associated with
specific historic events or significant people.

Sources
King County Assessor’s Reports, ca. 1936-1972.

Address: 83 S. Jackson St

Historic Name: Schwabacher Warehouse Annex Built: 1909
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 4/ POR Parcel #: 5247800203
Style: Commercial-Chicago School

Architect: Bebb and Gould Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic, Contributing Site ID #: 22

Description
This is a three story building, located behind the main Schwabacher Hardware Company Building, which has
elevations on First Avenue South and Jackson Street. This building is clad in dark red brick, similar to that on the
main building, and has a similar corbelled parapet. The design and detailing of this building, however, is simple.
Window openings are almost square and contain pairs of double-hung windows at the second and third levels. At the
first level, openings are wider: There is now a large opening at the first bay, which leads to the Merrill Place

alley /courtyard, as well as an entry to what now serves as the local Post Office for Pioneer Square.
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Cultural Data

Designed by the Seattle architecture firm of Bebb and Gould, this was originally a warehouse building, and an annex
to the original Schwabacher Hardware Company Building, designed by the firm of Bebb and Mendel (Architect
Charles Bebb was in partnership first with Louis Mendel, then with Carl Gould). It dates from 1909 and was at one
time, (and sometimes still), known as the Schwabacher Warehouse Annex. While it is much simpler than the main
building, it was only built about four years after the original. Its architectural style clearly echoes it. With the other
buildings on the block — the Schwabacher Hardware Company Building, the Seller and Hambach Buildings - it
reflects the cleaner lines and simplicity of buildings of this period. It was clearly designed as an annex, rather than a
building that was to have a major presence, as were the other buildings on this block. Its upper level windows appear
to have been double-hung, as they are now, while the wider openings, although mostly the same width, have been
modified to fit various uses. Still, the building exterior is reasonably intact. The building is an important part of the
ensemble of buildings on the west side of First Avenue South, from Jackson to King Streets.

The building was built for the Schwabacher Hardware Company, which was a leading supplier of dry goods during
the Klondike Gold Rush (The Canadian government required that Americans coming to the Klondike have a year’s
worth of supplies). The Schwabacher Brothers had been important in this part of Seattle since 1869 and had
previously built the Schwabacher Building (First Avenue South and Yesler Way) and the State Building (Occidental
Avenue South and Main Street), both of which are extant. This building, like its neighbors, represents the extension
of the earlier part of the city, originally built closer to Pioneer Place right after the Fire of 1889.

Sources
R. D. Merrill Company. “Merrill Place, Historic Preservation Certification, Part 1,” 18 May 1983. Office of
Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Comer: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004, p 288-289.

Address: 83 S. Jackson St

Name: (Fountain pool and seating) Built: 1985

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 4/ POR Parcel #: 5247800201

Style: Modern

Architect: NBBJ/ Olson Walker (Merrill Place Complex) Builder: Unknown
Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 23

Description

This is a water feature and seating, accessed from the added entry in the north elevation of the Schwabacher
Warehouse Annex at 83 S. Jackson St. The fountain and its surrounding seating relate to the modern glazed west
wall of the Seller Building at 411 1% Avenue South, directly to the east (across the alley).




NPS Form 10-900a OMB No. 1024-0018
(Rev. 8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet - rioneer SQUARE-SKID RoaD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Section number 7 Page 49 of 289

Significance

The pool and surrounding seating were built in 1985, as part of the creation of the Merrill Place complex by
architecture firms, NBBJ and Olson Walker. It is therefore a non historic, non contributing resource. While the
seating and the glazed back wall of the facing Seller Building are from 1985, the complex includes major historical
buildings, which are mainly intact, particularly along First Avenue South. In addition to the Seller Building, the
historical buildings are: the Schwabacher Hardware Company Building, (401 1* Avenue South), the building at 83
S. Jackson Street and the Hambach Building, (419 1* Avenue South).

Sources
Kreisman, Lawrence. Made to Last, Historic Preservation in Seattle. Historic Preservation Foundation and University
of Washington Press, 1999,

Address: 83 S. Jackson St

Historic Name: Merrill Place Parking Garage Built: 1984

Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 4/ POR Parcel #: 5247800201

Style: Modern

Architect: NBBJ/ Olson Walker (Merrill Place Complex) Builder: Unknown
Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 24

Description

This is a three story concrete parking garage in a modern utilitarian and tasteful style (for a garage). It serves as a
parking structure for the Merrill Place complex. It also covers the entire lot, which formerly included a building
considered intrusive and a parking lot .

Cultural Data

This is a modern building from 1984, part of Merrill Place, which also includes the four historic buildings: the
Schwabacher Hardware Company Building (1903-05), the M. Seller Building (1906), the Hambach Building (1913)
and the Schwabacher Warechouse Annex (1909). This garage is the most utilitarian portion of the entire complex, for
which Olson/Walker Architects and NBBJ were responsible. It does not itself contribute to the Pioneer Square-Skid
Road National Historic District.

Sources
King County Assessor Property Characteristics Report.

Kreisman, Lawrence. Made to Last, Historic Preservation in Seattle. Historic Preservation Foundation and University
of Washington Press, 1999.
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Address: 701 1% Avenue

Historic Names: First and Columbia Garage/ People’s Bank and Parking Garage Built: 1970
Plat: Terrys 3™ Addition / Block M/ Lot 1-6 Parcel: 8591400025

Style: Commercial /Modern/ Brutalist

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Non Historic, Non Contributing Site ID #: 25

Description

This is a nine story concrete building, with Brutalist tendencies, which is mostly open parking garage. Its main
fagade along First Avenue consists of five bays of open parking structure, followed by a narrow bay surmounting a
double door, and then, a full width end bay with a triple height storefront, surmounted by more open parking
structure. Its north elevation is windowless and has no openings for three stories and then, is topped by more open

parking.

Significance

This concrete garage building from 1970 is non historic, non contributing.
Source

King County Assessor Property Characteristics Report. Database Available at:
<http://www5.metrokc.gov/ddes/gis/parcel/>

Address: 627 1* Avenue

Historic Names: Silver Hotel / Pioneer Drug Company Built: 1908
Plat: Terrys 3™ Addition / Block M/ Lot 7 Parcel #: 8591400055
Style: Commercial /Modemn

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic, Non-Contributing Site ID #: 26

Description

This is now a two story building, which began as a five story building. The main east elevation has a double height
storefront, divided into two bays at street level, framed by big piers. The current fagcade composition consists of
recessed rectangles, set vertically next to the piers and horizontally above the door openings. The top level is one bay
and has a large three-light window, with the central light wider than the other two. The division of the window is
reflected in the three horizontal recessed rectangles of the parapet. The present fagade is not the historical fagade
dating from the 1900s.

Based on photos in the King County Tax Assessor’s records, the building had lost its three upper floors by 1952,
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probably as a result of the 1949 Earthquake. In addition, a photograph (Historic Preservation Program files, City of
Seattle), which probably dates from the 1960s, indicates that the extant portion of the original 1900s fagade was then
considerably altered, particularly at the ground level. The 1900s facade had big piers, which divided the ground level
into two, as does the modern facade, but the piers also had classical capitals (or moldings approximating capitals)
and were topped by low segmental arches

The west elevation is clad in red brick and has single segmental arched openings, typical of buildings erected in the
district right after the Fire of 1889; however, there is no direct evidence that this part of the building dates from this
early period.

Cultural Data

The original building is given a date of 1908 in the King County Tax Asssessor’s Records. According to a Baist Map
from 1912, the building housed the Silver Hotel and “Gary Silver” was the owner of the building in 1937 (Tax
Assessor’s Record Card). While employing differing architectural elements, the original 1908 fagade was more of a
cousin to the western fagade of 625 First Avenue, which still retains somewhat flamboyant, but Beaux-Arts derived
elements. The original fagade also had various types of moldings, emphasizing the shapes of the various architectural
elements: the segmental arches or rectangular projecting moldings in rectangular shapes, emphasizing the shafts of
the piers. The present remodel of the fagade may have been inspired by these, but does not retain the shape or sense
of the original ornament or architectural elements. In addition, the building has lost three floors.

The west facade, more typical of early construction techniques and styles from right after the Fire, may well date
from that time, although no records prove this. It suggests that the more ornate 1900s facade may have been added to
an older five story building and that the Assessor’s Records may have only documented the fagade change of 1908,
as the date of the building construction. In turn, about a decade after the loss of the upper floors, the remaining
details of 1900s fagade were replaced in the 1960s by the present fagade.

Sources
Baist, William. Baist’s Real Estate Atlas of Surveys of Seattle, Wash. Philadelphia: W. G. Baist, 1912.
King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Files, Historic Preservation Program, Department of Neighborhoods, City of Seattle.

Address: 625 1* Avenue

Historic Name: K & R Building/ Pioneer Office Equipment Built: ca.18907?; ca. 1905; 1908
Plat: Terrys 3™ Addition / Block M/ Lot 8 Parcel #: 8591400060

Style: Beaux Arts/ Commercial

Architect: Unknown Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic, Contributing Site ID #: 27




NPS Form 10-900a OMB No. 1024-0018
(Rev. 8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet - rioneer SQUARE-SKID ROAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Section number 7 Page 52 of 289

Description

This two story building has a main east fagade with a double height storefront level, topped by a projecting cornice,
which is now painted. At each side of the fagade are tall ionic columns, which rise almost to the top of the building,
just underneath a masonry parapet wall, recessed behind it. The second level above the storefront is topped by a
horizontal element, which is curved in profile and then flattens out at the level above the capitals. This band runs the
length of the fagade between the capitals and is adorned with repeated circular ring shapes.

Of interest are the thin piers, which are concave in profile and ornamented with a running pattern of interlinked
circular and floral shapes. These piers are further topped by less delicate ornaments, original in style, that look like
volutes seen from the side. Rising from these ornaments and the curved section of the horizontal element, (more an
ornamental lintel, it seems, than a real lintel), above the columns, are acanthus leaf shapes.

According to historic photos and records, the building was originally a four story building. Despite this, it retains
striking and significant architectural detail. The many coats of paint sometimes make it difficult to identify the
materials used in the fagade, although the main ornamental metal elements and the masonry above the ornamented
facade are easily identifiable.

The back western wall is of red brick and has single, segmental arched openings, typical of buildings erected in the
district right after the Fire of 1889. The south wall, perhaps an original party wall shared with the Starr-Boyd
Building, is also of red brick. It appears to be from the same period as the western wall. Also of interest is what
appears to be an ornamental vestige of the Starr-Boyd Building, adjoining the main facade: a cast-iron pier, topped
by short columns with cushion capitals, decorated with running floral motifs, surmounted by a portion of brick wall
with terra cotta ornamentation. These elements are now part of 625 First Avenue.

Cultural Data

According to King County Tax Assessor’s Records, the building was completed in 1908, however it appears
consistently on Baist Maps as the “K & R Building” from 1905 onward. It adjoined the now demolished Starr-Boyd
Building, designed by Elmer Fisher and completed in 1890. While the present building’s storefront was somewhat
modernized in the 1960s and then in 1982 by architect R. L. Stasny and Harvey Dodd and Associates Engineers, the
important elements of the main fagade and the somewhat loopy but rich, ornamental detailing remain. This building
fagade was constructed at a time of explosive growth in the Pioneer Square area and in Seattle in general. The
building is similar in scale and shares a similar history with 627 First Avenue, which unfortunately lost most of the
original elements of its fagade, in addition to several floors.

The architectural vestiges, now forming part of this building, both the ornamental features attached to the eastern
facade and the north wall, are most likely remains of Elmer Fisher’s Starr-Boyd Building. In addition, the western
back wall may date from a period closer to the Fire of 1889, although no records prove this. In any case, the 1908
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fagade and the vestiges of the earlier adjoining building form an intriguing ensemble, significant in the context of the
district.

Sources
Baist, William. Baist’s Real Estate Atlas of Surveys of Seattle, Wash. Philadelphia: W. G. Baist, 1905, 1908, 1912.

King County Tax Assessor’s Records, ca. 1936-1972.

Stasny, R. L. and Harvey Dodd & Associates, Consulting Engineers, Drawing for remodel, 1 October, 1982 (State of
Washington, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, Microfiche files).

Address: Not given

Name: Diamond Parking Lot (surface parking) Built: NA

Plat: Terrys 3™ Addition, Block M/ Lot: POR Parcel # : 8591400065
Classification: Vacant Site ID #: 28

Address: 606 Post Avenue

Historic Name: Fischer and MacDonald Wholesale Store Built: 1892
Plat: Unit 88 Yesler Parcel #: 7804128888

Style: Commercial/ Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect: Elmer Fisher/ Emil DeNeuf Builder: Unknown
Classification: Historic, Contributing Site ID #: 29

Description

This is five story building, square in plan, with a flat roof and parapet. The main elevation faces Yesler Way. There
is a secondary street elevation, facing west on Post Alley (Avenue). Above the double height storefront on Yesler
Way, the symmetrical fagade is divided into three bays of equal width. The building is mainly clad in red brick, but
the composition of the Yesler Way elevation is accented by light colored, (it looks white in many places), rusticated,
stone trim. Stone trim occurs at the belt course above the double height storefront, again, above the third floor
trabeated windows, and as a continuous band above the fourth floor main window openings. It is also used for the
fourth and fifth floor window sills and occurs over the arches of the fourth floor clerestory windows and between the
fifth story windows and clerestories. Finally, rusticated stone punctuates the top of the facade. Another notable
feature is the textured brick pattern of shallow incised rectilinear shapes between the arches of the fifth floor
windows and the top of the parapet.

The side and west elevation is less composed, but has many regularly spaced windows with segmental arches and a
cast-iron storefront, located on the south part of this elevation. A continuation of the storefront of the main fagade,
the cast-iron storefront is divided into three bays by posts, which flair out at the top in a gentle curve.




NPS Form 10-900a OMB No. 1024-0018
(Rev. 8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet - rioneer SQuARE-SKID ROAD NATIONAL HISTORIC DISTRICT
KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Section number 7 Page 54 of 289

Cultural Data

This building, constructed as the Fischer and McDonald Wholesale Store, was completed in 1892. Based on historic
photographs and drawings, the building appears to be intact, except for the obvious changes to the double height
storefront level. The building is also interesting in terms of the careers of Elmer Fisher and Emil DeNeuf, both of
whom produced important buildings in the Pioneer Square district. Elmer Fisher produced many post-fire buildings
in the district, especially between 1889 and 1891. Emil DeNeuf began his career in Seattle, working for Fisher. Some
architectural historians believe that he may even the real designer of many buildings produced in Fisher’s office. In
the case of this building, Elmer Fisher had designed a building for this site, the Feurer Building in 1889, but it had
not been built at the time. In 1892, DeNeuf was the supervising architect on the construction of the present building.
Whether or how much DeNeuf redesigned the building is unclear, however. In any case, it is typical of early
buildings erected in the “burnt district,” after the Great Fire.

Aside from the great number of buildings that Fisher produced from 1889 to 1891, what we know about his career is
somewhat spotty. It is known that he came to the Pacific Northwest in 1886 and designed buildings in Vancouver,
Victoria and Port Townsend, before coming to Seattle in 1889. His most well-known work in Seattle is the Pioneer
Building, which he designed for Henry Yesler. By 1891, despite the accolades the Pioneer Building received in 1892,
he had abandoned his career as an architect to run the Abbott Hotel in Seattle, which he had also designed and built.

Emil DeNeuf arrived in Seattle in 1889 and began his career as a draftsman in Elmer Fisher’s office. While working
for Fisher, he was also responsible for the Metropole Hotel and the First Avenue fagade of the fire-damaged
Schwabacher Building, both in the Pioneer Square district. He had an independent practice by the end of 1891. He
was retained by Henry Yesler to complete the upper floors of the Mutual Life Building, originally the “Yesler
Building,” whose design was begun by Fisher. DeNeuf also was the designer of the Lowman and Hanford Building.
His partnership with Augustus Heide, with whom he designed the Lowman Building (ca.1906), lasted from 1901 to
1906. (For additional information on Fisher and DeNeuf, please see the Statement of Significance).

Sources
Luxton, Donald, editor, Building the West: the Early Architects of British Columbia, Vancouver B.C.: Talonbooks,
2003.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Comer: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

“The Lowman Building, 107 Cherry Street, Historic Preservation Certification Application, Part 1,” 5 February
2004. . Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia, Washington, Microfiche File.

The Conservation Company. “ Lowman-Hanford Building, 612-616 First Avenue, Historic Preservation
Certification, Part 1,” April 1982. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, State of Washington, Olympia,
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Washington, Microfiche File.

An Illustrated History of Skagit and Snohomish Counties. Chicago: Interstate Publishing Company, 1906.

Address: 605 1*' Avenue

Historic Name: Mutual Life Building/ Yesler Building Built: 1890, Alt. 1893; ca.1904 (w. addition)
Plat: Terrys 3" Addition / Block M/ Lots 11-12  Parcel #: 8591400075

Style: Richardsonian Romanesque

Architect: Elmer Fisher; Emil DeNeuf; Robertson & Blackwell Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 30

Description

The Mutual Life Building, formerly called the Yesler Building, is rectangular in plan and six stories in height. It is
clad in red sandstone at the ground level and buff colored brick on the upper floors. According to an historical photo
at the Museum of History and Industry, the sixth story used to rise on the northeast and southeast corners, defining
two towers. These portions of the sixth floor were lost as a result of the Earthquake of 1949. On First Avenue, two
projecting bays, which used to be part of the tower-like structures, flank three recessed bays. The main entry to the
building is on the First Avenue elevation. It has a wide low- slung arch supported on flat pilasters and wide, flat
capitals with Romanesque Revival floral patterns, all in red sandstone Above the ground floor level, each typical bay
consists of a tall wide arch, two stories in height, at the second and third floors, which is topped by a red sandstone
stone belt-course. Just below another belt-course, three tall linked arches, also two stories in height, complete the
fourth and fifth levels of the fagade. At these levels, the wide pilasters that define the bays have carved red sandstone
capitals. The series of arches are topped by groups of trabeated window openings on the top floor, surmounted by a
generous classically detailed sheet metal cornice.

Red sandstone is used liberally as trim, and rusticated or carved with floral motifs throughout the upper levels of the
building exterior. The original Yesler Way elevation has a projecting bay to the east, and then one single typical
recessed bay. Two more identical bays, set next to the Post Hotel Building at 606 Post Avenue (Alley), were
apparently added subsequently.

Cultural Data

The building, originally called the “Yesler Building” and subsequently the Mutual Life Building, was built on the
approximate site of Henry Yesler’s cookhouse, which served as Seattle’s first public space and restaurant. Henry
Yesler commissioned Elmer Fisher to design this building as well as the Bank of Commerce Building, now
confusingly called the “Yesler Building.” Emil DeNeuf is now credited with the design of the upper floors in 1892-
93, and Robertson & Blackwell for the 1904 (or circa 1904) rear addition to the west and for the redesign of the
cornice of the original building, which was modified to be horizontal.
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Henry Yesler was one of Seattle’s early founding settlers, and an influential early Seattle entrepreneur and owner of
prime real estate in the area around Pioneer Place and north of Yesler Way. He owned Seattle’s first steam mill and
operated his famous cookhouse, a grist mill as well as a general store. Two of the four mills he owned were focated
west of the site of this building.

Only the basement and first floor of Elmer Fisher’s design were actually built. The first floor rusticated stone
cladding was smoothed over in 1904. Fisher had grand plans for the building, which included two major towers. A
quote from the March 1891 Northwest Real Estate and Building Review read: “ When completed the building will
present one of the most showy [sic] exteriors in Seattle. Its design is semi-Romanesque, with two red tile-covered
towers on the broad eastern front.” The first floor was temporarily roofed over in 1891. Henry Yesler died in 1892
and economic conditions were also poor in this period.

In 1892, five floors were added, according to a design by Emil DeNeuf. DeNeuf did not follow Fisher’s original
design exactly, although he was responsible for two towers. Instead he created a more unified design of repeated
arches. Based on other works such as the Lowman and Hanford Building and the First Avenue South fagade of the
Schwabacher Building, the more unified design and the use of light colored brick, seem to be hallmarks of DeNeuf’s
work. The upper parts of the sixth level of the building were lost during the 1949 Earthquake, oddly enough giving
even more consistency to DeNeuf’s design. In some historical studies, James Blackwell is credited with the five
floors, added by DeNeuf. More recent studies credit Robertson and Blackwell for the western addition near the Post
Hotel and a new horizontal cornice for the original building.

Elmer Fisher produced a great number of buildings in the district, especially between 1889 and 1891 His most well-
known work in Seattle is the Pioneer Building, which he also designed for Henry Yesler. By 1891, despite the praise
the Pioneer Building received in 1892, he had abandoned his career as an architect to run the Abbott Hotel in Seattle,
which he had also designed and built. Emil DeNeuf arrived in Seattle in 1889 and began his career as a draftsman in
Elmer Fisher’s office. He had an independent practice by the end of 1891. He also was the designer of the Lowman
and Hanford Building. (For more complete information on Fisher and DeNeuf, please see the Statement of
Significance)

In 1895, the Mutual Life Insurance Company of New York bought the building and it has been named the Mutual
Life Building (or some variation on this name, since that time). This insurance company occupied the southeast
corner of the second floor until 1916. The main floor was occupied was the First National Bank, which incorporated
on this site in 1892 and in 1929 merged with other local Seattle banks, the Dexter Horton Bank (originally in the
Maynard Building) and the Seattle National Bank to form the Seattle-First National Bank, then Washington State’s
largest financial institution.

Sources
Three Fine Buildings Almost Finished,” Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 2 April 1892, p 5.
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Kreisman, Lawrence. Made to Last, Historic Preservation in Seattle. Historic Preservation Foundation and University
of Washington Press, 1999.

Luxton, Donald, editor. Building the West: the Early Architects of British Columbia. Vancouver B.C.: Talonbooks,
2003.

Olson/ Walker. “The Mutual Life Building - Historic Significance and Existing Conditions, Part 1,” ca.1983.

Ochsner, Jeffrey and Dennis Andersen. Distant Corner: Seattle Architects and The Legacy of H. H. Richardson.
Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 2004.

Address: 95 Yesler Way

Historic Names: Yesler Building, Bank of Commerce Building, Scandinavian-American Bank Built: 1891; ca.1895
Plat: Maynards D S Plat/ Block 1 / Lot 8 Parcel #: 5247800055

Style: Richardsonian Romanesque/Commercial

Architect: Elmer Fisher; Emil DeNeuf  Builder: Unknown

Classification: Historic Contributing Site ID #: 31

Description

The former Bank of Commerce Building, more recently known as the Yesler Building, is four stories in height and
was built on a lot measuring 24 feet by 70 feet. It is almost rectangular in plan, but has an angled fagade between the
long Yesler Way fagade and a one bay fagade along First Avenue South. The longer Yesler Way facade, clad in
rusticated sandstone, is organized as four bays of tall arches, three stories in height. The fourth level, added
subsequently, is clad in light grey brick, with each upper bay consisting of two separate rectangular openings with
double-hung windows. A prominent cornice, featuring decorative and somewhat squat bracket shapes, set above the
inset window openings, caps the parapet.

The single First Avenue South bay is composed in the same way as the typical bay on the Yesler Way facade. The
angled elevation is also has one bay with a tall arch. Here, however, a grand portal occurs and leads to a business on
the lower level. Above the main portal, is a balcony, also of rusticated sandstone. Delicate Romanesque Revival
carved floral motifs spring up under the balcony and at both sides of the portal. They also occur on the capitals of all
the rusticated piers that define the bays.

Cultural Data
The bottom three floors of the former Bank of Commerce Building, more recently now the Yesler Building, were

designed by architect Elmer Fisher. An early photo of the building by Asahel Curtis indicates that the top floor of
the building was added somewhat later, probably by 1895. Architect Emil DeNeuf is responsible for the upper floor.
The original building was commissioned by mill owner and entrepreneur Henry Yesler in 1890, along with the
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building across the street on First Avenue, the Mutual Life Building (confusingly enough called the “Yesler
Building” in Fisher and Yesler’s day). Both buildings were located across Pioneer Plac<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>